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Letter of compliance 

25 September 2020 

The Honourable Di Farmer MP 
Minister for Child Safety, Youth and Women and 
Minister for the Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence 

Dear Minister 

I am pleased to submit for presentation to the Parliament the Annual Report 2019-20 
and financial statements for the Department of Youth Justice. This is the department’s 
first full annual report since formation on 20 May 2019, and covers a 13-month period 
from 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020. 

I certify that this Annual Report complies with: 

 prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019, and

 the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for
Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements is provided at page 74 of this 
annual report. 

Yours sincerely 

Robert Gee APM 
Director-General 
Department of Youth Justice 

Qi.I ei;is.l;ind 
c;ovemmenl 

Dep.irtmcnl of 
Youth J 111stke 
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Director-General’s report 
I am incredibly proud of the work of the Department of Youth Justice since it was established on 20 
May 2019. This Annual Report represents our first full financial year of operation and includes 
Financial Statements for a 13-month period from 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020. 

Our efforts throughout the year have focused on significant reform and have been guided by the 
Working Together Changing the Story: Youth Justice Strategy 2019-2023 and the Youth Justice 
Strategy Action Plan 2019–2021. The implementation of these reforms has been underpinned by 
the government’s record investment in Queensland’s youth justice system.  

There has been a shift in the way government, non-government and community organisations 
work together to support Queensland families, deter young people from committing crime and help 
them change. This has involved more partnerships with community controlled organisations and 
increased moves to have First Nations peoples lead solutions.  

The results to date are positive: 

 there have been no young people held on remand in watch houses since late-2019 except for
normal routine processing or awaiting transport in regional areas;

 a 3 per cent decrease in reoffending by 10-15 year olds between 2018-19 and 2019-20;

 9 per cent less charged offences by 10-17 year olds compared with 2018-19;

 23 per cent less young people with a charged offence compared with 2018-19; and

 a 30.8 per cent decrease in the number of unique young offenders aged 10-17 years over the
past 10 years.

At the heart of our work is collaboration, coordination and service provision to communities to 
increase safety and wellbeing at the same time as addressing offending behaviour. This requires a 
holistic view that works with not just young people but their families and community. Of particular 
importance is our work with First Nations peoples to effectively address the over-representation of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people in the youth justice system. 

I would like to pay special tribute to the hard work of staff in our service centres and in detention 
centres, and to the many staff who work often behind the scenes, supporting young people to turn 
their lives around.  

I also acknowledge the essential role of our partners across the entire system to reduce offending 
and help deliver community safety. This includes other government agencies, the courts, the 
community, the non-government sector and the business community. Thank you for your 
contribution. 

Collectively, our efforts are paying off. We continue to see less young people enter the criminal 
justice system and more young people re-engaging with education, training and other support 
services. There is a cohort of repeat offenders; 10 per cent of offenders that commit 44 per cent of 
youth crime – this is where our programs will continue to require partnerships, innovation and 
effort. 

To achieve our goals the department’s senior leaders are committed to providing a positive and 
supportive workplace culture for staff so that they can thrive while doing their valuable work to 
create brighter futures for the most vulnerable Queenslanders.  
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I would like to acknowledge the engagement and efforts displayed by staff in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, who continued to deliver high-quality services to young people and their 
families across Queensland. The flexibility and determination shown by staff to develop and to 
implement new solutions in unique circumstances was extremely admirable and valued.  

I look forward to continuing to work with our staff, our partners and our clients to keep the 
community safe and supporting vulnerable young people using evidence based approaches that 
make a difference in each local community.  

Robert Gee APM 
Director-General  
Department of Youth Justice 
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Summary of financial performance 
This is the department’s first full annual report since formation on 20 May 2019, and covers a 
13-month period from 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020. This summary of financial performance
reflects the extended 13-month period. A comprehensive view of the department’s financial
performance is provided in the Financial Statements section of this annual report.

Operating result 
The operating result for the department is a surplus of $1.9 million for the 13-month period ended 
30 June 2020. The surplus in operating result relates primarily to lower than anticipated utilisation 
of the detention centres and coronavirus (COVID-19) related impacts.  

Operating Result 
2019-20 

Actual 
$’000 

2019-20 
 Original Budget1 

$’000 

Total income 286,044 271,710 

Total expenses 284,138 271,710 

Operating result 1,906 - 

Income 
The department’s primary source of income is appropriation revenue provided by the Queensland 
Government for provision of services. Revenue for the department for the 13-month period totalled 
$286.0 million against the original budget of $271.7 million. The variance of $14.3 million (5.26 per 
cent) is mainly due to increased appropriation funding for operationalising the New Youth 
Detention Centre, adjustment of funding for youth justice initiatives and state wage case outcomes. 

Sources of income 
2019-20 

Actual 
$’000 

2019-20 
Original  Budget1 

$’000 

Appropriation revenue 284,758 270,791 

User charges and fees 720 643 

Grants and other contributions 326 276 

Other revenue 235 - 

Other gains2 5 - 

Total income 286,044 271,710 
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Notes: 

1. These figures represent budgeted figures as published in the latest Service Delivery Statement tabled in Parliament.
2. Gain on sale of plant and equipment.

Expenses 
The department provides a wide range of services to the community, delivered by contracted 
non-government organisations and through direct service delivery.  As a result, our two largest 
expense categories are supplies and services, and employee expenses. 

Expenditure for the department for the 13-month period totalled $284.1 million against the original 
budget of $271.7 million. The variance of $12.4 million (4.57 per cent) is mainly due to higher 
employee expenses and depreciation expenses. 

Assets 
As at 30 June 2020, the department held assets valued at $434.7 million. Assets mainly include 
cash, receivables, property, plant and equipment and non-current assets held for sale being the 
former Brisbane Children’s Court land and buildings. 

Liabilities 
Our total liabilities as at 30 June 2020 were $23 million. Our liabilities consist primarily of payables 
for trade creditors including provision for the first performance payment relating to a Social Benefit 
Bond and provisions for employee entitlements. 

Financial position 
As at 30 June 2020, the net assets position was $411.7 million. 

Changes in equity 
2019-20 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 June 2019 - 

Net effect of changes in accounting policies 81 

Operating result 1,906 

Net increase in asset revaluation surplus 5,539 

Net equity adjustments 67,639 

Net transfers out/in to other Queensland Government entities 336,491 

Balance as at 30 June 2020 411,656 
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Statement by the Chief Finance Officer 
In accordance with the requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Chief Finance 
Officer has provided the Director-General with a statement confirming the financial internal controls 
of the department are operating efficiently, effectively and economically in conformance with 
Section 54 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019. 

The Chief Finance Officer has fulfilled the minimum responsibilities as required by the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009. 
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Youth justice at a glance 
Our results 

 Charged offences by young people aged 10-17 years – down 9 per cent compared with 2018-19

 Young people with charged offence – down 23 per cent compared with 2018-19

 Number of young offenders aged 10-17 years in the past 10 years – down 30.8 per cent

 Re-offending rates for young people aged 10-15 – down 3 per cent between 2018-19 and 2019-20

 Average daily number of young people (10-17 years) in detention or community-based supervision
decreased 25 per cent from 2018-19 to 2019-20 to the lowest level in 10 years

 The proportion of community-based orders successfully completed increased 4 per cent from 2018-19
to 2019-20 to the highest level in 10 years

 The number of young people who participated in a completed a Restorative Justice conference
increased 14 per cent from 2018-19 to 2019-20 to the highest level in 8 years

Our profile 

 Total staff – 1,511

 Service Centres – 29 plus two Outlook facilities

 Youth detention centres – two i.e. Brisbane Youth Detention Centre at Wacol and Cleveland Youth
Detention Centre at Townsville

 Total built capacity of detention centres – increased from 230 in 2015, to 274 by 30 June 2020, with
306 in 2021

 Young people who received a service – 3,619

 No young people on remand in watch houses since late-2019 except for normal processing

 Transition to Success – 550 graduated with certificates since 2015, including 93 in 2019-20; more than
125 young people have gained a job, an apprenticeship or traineeship since 2015, including 33 in
2019-20

 Restorative Justice – 2,472 young people referred, and 2,069 agreements reached in 2019-20

Major new initiatives implemented 

 Co-response model with the Queensland Police Service

 Navigate Your Health with nurses, child safety and health workers

 Intensive case management

 Specialist multi-agency response teams (SMART)

 Expanded Transition to Success

 Place-based Community Youth Response and Diversion services

 On Country trial

 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander family-led decision making

Young people involved with Youth Justice (2019) 

 53 per cent are disengaged from school, training and employment

 80 per cent using at least one drug substance e.g. marijuana, methamphetamine

 56 per cent have a mental health and/or behavioural disorder (diagnosed or suspected)

 63 per cent experienced or been impacted by domestic and family violence (DFV)

 16 per cent assessed with or suspected of having at least one disability type – most of these were a
form of cognitive or intellectual disability

 33 per cent have parent/s who had been held in adult custody
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Government objectives for the community 
The department is actively engaged in the implementation of the government’s objectives for the 
community – Our Future State: Advancing Queensland Priorities, as follows: 

Keep communities safe: We lead the priority to reduce the rate of youth offending. 

Give all our children a great start: We support the priority to ensure the next generation of 
Queenslanders are healthy, resilient, and ready to be productive members of society.  

Create jobs in a strong economy: We support the priority to engage more young Queenslanders 
in education, training and work. 

Be a responsive government: We support the priority to make services easy to use. 

Keep Queenslanders healthy: We support the priority. 

Our strategic plan 
Our Strategic Plan 2019-2023 provides a strong vision and purpose, clear objectives and 
strategies and demonstrates how the department contributes to Advancing Queensland Priorities. 
The plan is available on our website at: www.youthjustice.qld.gov.au/about-us/our-publications. 

Vision and objectives 
Our vision is to have a safe community with the lowest rate of youth offending in the world. 

Our key objectives and strategies are to: 

 intervene early
 address the disproportionate representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples in

the youth justice system
 improve social, economic and civic participation
 keep children out of court and custody
 reduce recidivism, and
 improve the safety, wellbeing and capability of our staff.

Our performance indicators 
We will continue to refine our performance indicators and are monitoring our performance over 
time through the following measures:  

Measure Progress 

Reduce the rate of young people 
entering the youth justice system, 
through partnering with other 
agencies 

The number of young people with a charged offence is 
down 23 per cent compared with 2018-19 

Department of Youth Justice - Annual Report 2019-20 11



Measure Progress 

Reduce the rate of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander young peoples 
in the youth justice system 

The rate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young 
people in detention or court ordered custody decreased 
from 42.7 per 1,000 persons in 2018-19 to 34.3 in 
2019-20 

In 2019 59 per cent of young people either supervised in 
the community or in a detention centre or in a watch 
house were Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders, an 
increase of 1 per cent from 2018 

Reduce the rate of victimisation of 
young people 

In 2019 63 per cent of young people either supervised in 
the community or in a detention centre or in a watch 
house had experienced or been impacted by domestic 
and family violence 1 

Reduce the rate of offending The number of charged offences by young people aged 
10-17 years is down 9 per cent compared with 2018-19

Reduce the rate of young people in 
detention and being remanded in 
custody 

The rate (per 10,000) average daily number of young 
people in detention in 2019-20 was 3.8, compared with 
4.1 in 2018-19 

Reduce the rate of reoffending for 
young people under youth justice 
supervision 

The re-offending rate for young people decreased 3 per 
cent between 2018-19 to 2019-20 2 

Improve the mental and physical 
wellbeing of staff, and improve staff 
safety, health and wellbeing in the 
workplace 

Pages 34-36 of this report provide information on our 
strategic workforce planning and performance 

Notes: 
1. This is the first year that this material has been collected.
2. This measure relates to the proportion of young offenders aged 10-15 years who have another charged offence

within 12 months of an initial finalisation for a proven offence.

Priorities 
Our priorities in 2019-20 included: 

 keeping communities safe by engaging our partners, other organisations, stakeholders and
young people to address the causes and consequences of offending and to prevent and
reduce reoffending by children and young people

 funding and supporting early intervention, diversionary and support services for children and
young people who are at risk of, or are, offending, and their families

 providing statutory youth justice restorative, supervision and detention services that hold young
people accountable for their actions and encourage their rehabilitation and reintegration into
the community

 leading and facilitating reforms to improve the youth justice system and the effectiveness of
interfaces with the domestic and family violence, youth support, and family support and child
protection, housing, education, health and mental health systems.
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Strategic opportunities 
We regularly review the strategic opportunities in our operating environment, including: 

 harness the capacity of government, non-government organisations and community to support
the most vulnerable to reduce victimisation

 build more culturally safe and capable practices
 strengthen our client focus and customer service
 partner, collaborate and co-design services and solutions with others, including place-based

responses
 leverage local and global knowledge and stimulate innovation at all levels
 improve information systems and networks for more integrated service delivery, and
 implement the government’s youth justice reform program.

Strategic risks 
The department manages strategic risks and their impacts through governance arrangements with 
the Audit and Risk Committee providing oversight of the performance of our risk management 
approach. Strategic risks in focus during 2019-20 included: 

 harm to community
 harm to children or young people in our care or custody
 harm to safety and wellbeing of staff, and challenges to workforce attraction and retention
 capability and capacity to respond to demand, increasing complexity of clients and

communities, and to deliver multiple system and service delivery reforms, and
 breaches of information privacy and security, statutory rights and responsibilities.
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Our organisational structure 

Di rector-General 

Deputy Director-General 

Strategy and Performance 

Senior Executive Director 

Youth Detention and 

Operations 
Senior Executive Director 

Regional Services 

Senior Executive Director 

Office of the Director-General 

Director 

Office of the Deputy Director-General 

Director 

Financial Services and Governance, 
Procurement and Property Services 

Chief Finance Officer 

People and Culture 
Chief Human Resources Officer 

Commissioning and Investment 

Director 

Policy, Strategy and Legislation 

Director 

Performance and Evaluation 
Director 

Program Management Office 

Director 

Brisbane Youth Detention Centre 
Executive Director 

Cleveland Youth Detention Centre 
Executive Director 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

Cultural Unit 
Director 

Youth Detention Operations and 
Support 
Director 

Quality and Improvement 

Director 

Regional Operations 

Director 

Moreton Region 

Regional Director 

South East Region 

Regional Director 

North Queensland Region 
Regional Director 

South West Region 

Regional Director 

Central Queensland Region 

Regional Director 

Deputy Di rector 

Deputy Di rector 
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Our regions 
Our regional service delivery footprint includes 29 Service Centres and two Outlook facilities in five 
regions to enable the delivery of holistic approaches to the complex and interrelated needs of our 
clients and communities. We also operate youth detention centres in Brisbane and Townsville. 

• 
I Thursday !$land 

airns 

• Palm Island 

. . - . . - . . 

. . . 

O Beenleigh 

• • Gold Coast 
Bea.udesert 

Moreton 
1. - Region 
O Maroochydore 

' . Brisbane 

South East 
Region 
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Our performance 
We work with young people, families, victims of crime, other agencies and communities to change 
the story for the small minority of young people who come into contact with the youth justice 
system. 

Performance scorecard 

Notes 2019-20 
Target/Est 

2019-20 
Actual 

Percentage of orders supervised in the community 
that are successfully completed 

1 

- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young
offenders 

80% 84% 

- Other young offenders 85% 86% 

- All young offenders 80% 85% 

Proportion of young offenders who have another 
charged offence within 12 months of an initial 
finalisation for a proven offence 

2 70% 71% 

Youth detention centre utilisation rate 3 100% 82% 

Notes: 

1. This measure is based on the number of community-based orders that ended in the period and that were
successful, regardless of when the order commenced.

2. This measure reflects the percentage of young people who reoffended within 12 months following their earliest
finalised proven offence when aged 10-15 years in the previous 12-month period.

3. Centre utilisation rate is based on the Report on Government Services formula which is the average nightly
population in youth detention centres during 2019-20 divided by the average number of permanently funded beds.
Security upgrades and associated work during 2019-20 meant that at certain times there were up to 28 beds
unavailable for occupancy. Centre utilisation excludes young people held in police watch houses.
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Our achievements 
The Youth Justice Strategy Action Plan 2019–2021 sets out the practical steps to implement the 
Working Together Changing the Story: Youth Justice Strategy 2019-2023 (Youth Justice Strategy). 
The Action Plan was developed in consultation with Queensland Government agencies and the 
Youth Justice Strategy Reference Group, including community leaders, industry representatives 
and criminal justice experts. 

Early signs indicate that our strategies and actions are making a difference. In 2019-20 there was 
a 23 per cent decrease in the number of young people with a charged offence and nine per cent 
less offences.  

Evidence tells us that keeping communities safe in the long term is best achieved through early 
intervention activities that wrap around young people at risk of offending and reoffending, and their 
families. This includes activities addressing various needs of young people – education, training, 
employment, housing, substance misuse, health and mental health needs – and programs to divert 
young people from the criminal justice system. By addressing the causes of youth crime and better 
supporting young people as they transition to adulthood, young people can avoid becoming 
entrenched in the criminal justice system and instead move towards better lives and brighter 
futures.  

Our achievements for 2019-20 are considerable and reflect the Strategy’s four pillars: Intervene 
early, Keep children out of court, Keep children out of custody, and Reduce re-offending, plus 
other noteworthy initiatives.  

Intervene early  

Key achievements for 2019-20: 

 Commenced work on all of recommendations of the Major General (Rtd) Stuart Smith’s 
December 2018 report, Townsville’s voice: Local solutions to address youth crime, focused on 
long term strategies that target preventing or breaking the cycle. Work on four final 
recommendations will be completed by the end of 2020.  

 
 Implemented the Queensland Youth Partnerships Initiative which has as its first component to 

provide a safe space for young people at shopping centres around the state. The program 
brings together local community groups, state government services, police and shopping 
centres in North Lakes, Townsville, Rockhampton, Chermside, Coomera and Helensvale to 
deliver youth related activities and reconnect young people with health services and education, 
training and employment. Designed by young people for young people, more than 1,500 
occasions of support were provided in 2019-20. 
 

 Commenced participation in the Navigate Your Health pilot in Brisbane, Logan and Cairns, 
partnering with the Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women (DCSYW) and Children’s 
Health Queensland Hospital and Health Service, and Aboriginal medical services and 
Community Controlled Organisations in each location. The pilot is about improving accessibility 
to health care for young people subject to community based youth justice orders by supporting 
them to access comprehensive health screening and assessment to prevent offending.  

 
 Commenced trials of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander family-led decision making program 

in Toowoomba, South East Queensland, Moreton, and Cairns. The program targets the small 
number of high risk, recidivist offenders responsible for a significant proportion of all offending 
by young people. It does this through the empowering process of developing strategies to 
address young people’s behaviour through using the personal knowledge of their family 
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members. The trials are being delivered by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community 
organisations and allow families to have a greater say in decisions made about their children.  
 

 Increased capacity of 11 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Family Wellbeing Services with 
dedicated Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth and family workers and supported 1,688 
young people and their families. The program provides support to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander families to help young people re-engage with kin, schools and communities, and 
prevent contact with the youth justice system.  

 
 Supported the Queensland Police Service deliver Framing the Future RESPECT program that 

provides mentoring and support to Project Booyah graduates for up to six months after they 
graduate. This better connects at-risk young people with further education and training, and 
creates alternative pathways and opportunities to empower them to change their story and live 
better lives. 56 young people completed the program in nine locations over 2019-20. 

Keep children out of court and custody  

Key achievements for 2019-20: 

 Commenced a new co-responder model with the Queensland Police Service in five locations – 
Cairns, Townsville, Rockhampton, Brisbane North, Logan/Gold Coast. Co-responders patrol 
hotspots with police 24/7 and work with young people who are at risk of entering or becoming 
further entrenched in the youth justice system. Between 18 May and 30 June 2020 the new 
service engaged 233 young people. 
 

 Introduced the place-based Community Youth Response and Diversion program in Gold Coast, 
Ipswich, Cairns, Brisbane, Logan and Moreton. The program aims to keep young people out of 
court and custody. It also helps young people overcome barriers to accessing education, 
mentoring and integrated case management in order to prevent re-offending. The initiatives 
comprising the program are different in each location, depending on the needs of the specific 
community. By 30 June 2020, there had been close to 1400 engagements with these services,  
 

 Launched the Youth Justice Framework for Practice, which guides, describes and celebrates 
the values, skills and knowledge applied by staff across the department. This important 
framework provides tools, strategies and processes to guide all of the department’s work. The 
framework was developed through extensive engagement – more than 600 staff, nearly 70 
young people and 300 community stakeholders were consulted. 
 

 Delivered the Conditional Bail Program to assist 236 at risk young people to increase their 
ability to remain in the community while before the courts. The program addresses young 
people's educational and vocational needs, mental health issues, family intervention and 
accommodation and provides individualised and intensive supervision while they are on bail. 

 
 Operated the Brisbane City Watch House Response Team to facilitate admission to youth 

detention centres and help young people temporarily in the watch house submit bail 
applications and access continued care, education and support. The number of young people 
in the watch house decreased to a level that enabled the Response Team to be concluded. 
This was due to increased detention centre capacity and the success of a range of initiatives 
designed to reduce the number of young people offending.  
 

 Provided cultural support to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young people who were held 
in police watch houses and coordinated contact with their families. The response includes 
referring young people to services and supporting them after they leave the watch house. 
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 Funded the Mount Isa Youth Transitional Hub which provides a safe environment for police to 
refer young people who do not have appropriate accommodation or safe home environments. 
The hub delivers support services based on culturally appropriate assessments of risk and 
need, and engages other local service providers to deliver intensive and specialised support to 
the young people and their families. 350 young people received support from 17 June 2019 to 
30 June 2020. The number of offences committed by young people in Mt Isa in the 12 months 
to 30 June 2020 has decreased by 33 per cent.   
 

 Introduced the Black Chicks Talking program, a five-week culturally specific program delivered 
by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander girls 
who are clients or at risk of becoming clients of the department. The program explores the 
stories of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, the facilitators’ personal stories, the 
girl’s family story and the future story the girl wants to create for herself. More than 32 girls 
participated in the program, which is run state wide. 

 
 Continued support for the Townsville Community Youth Response, which includes: alternative 

education delivered by a flexible learning centre; cultural mentoring through the Townsville 
Aboriginal and Islander Health Service; a specialist High Risk Youth Court, in which high risk 
and repeat defendants appear before the same Magistrate over time; and Integrated Case 
Management, which provides individualised integrated support for young people who often 
have high and complex needs, and their families. 

 
 Funded four Supervised Community Accommodation sites (SCAs) that provided services to 

129 young people. Two independent reports were published in December 2019 showing SCAs 
provided safe accommodation and helped to re-connect young people with families, education 
and other support services. However, it was recommended further evaluation be undertaken on 
costs and benefits. The department implemented improvements recommended and has 
progressed further evaluation. 

Reduce re-offending  

Key achievements for 2019-20: 

 Expanded the Transition to Success program (T2S) from 10 locations to 16. T2S is designed 
for young people who are involved in or at risk of contact with the youth justice system, helping 
to re-engage them with education and training. Participants complete nationally-recognised 
certificates to develop positive behaviours, life skills and confidence. This helps them find and 
keep employment, re-engage with the community, meet life's challenges, and work towards a 
positive future not defined by their past. While social distancing due to COVID-19 forced a 
pause to many face-to- face group T2S activities, workshops were successfully transferred 
online. During the year, 33 participants gained employment, 93 graduated from certificate 
courses and 40 obtained a participation certificate. Since T2S commenced in 2015 550 
certificates have been issued. Results show that 67 per cent of T2S participants did not offend 
within 12 months of completing the program. Expansion to a total of 20 locations is planned for 
2020-21.  
 

 Procured services to implement a four-year trial of 'On Country' programs in Cairns, Townsville 
and Mt Isa. On Country programs are designed and delivered by Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander peoples and aims to give high risk repeat offenders the support they need to turn their 
lives around and return to work or education. Courts and the police have powers to refer high 
risk 10 to 17-year-old Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander offenders to the program for up to 
two months under the supervision and mentoring of Elders and Traditional Owners. 
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 Continued the successful Restorative Justice Conferencing program that allows young people 
to take responsibility and ownership for their actions and work with victims to identify how the 
young people can make amends for their behaviour. Results show that 77 per cent of young 
people who completed a Restorative Justice Conference either did not reoffend or showed a 
decrease in the magnitude of their re-offending, within six months of their conference. 

 
 Deployed the Risk and Dynamic Assessment Register (RADAR) trial in three locations – 

Brisbane, Southport and Townsville. RADAR is a structured decision making tool that helps 
inform the best way to respond to the needs of young people appearing before a Childrens 
Court. This process is improving youth justice submissions to the Court.  
 

 Launched a trial of specialist multi-agency response teams (SMART) in Brisbane, Townsville, 
Mount Isa, Cairns, Ipswich, Logan, Moreton Bay and the Gold Coast. SMART teams work with 
local Childrens Courts to identify and support young people with complex needs. SMART 
brings together specialists from partner agencies, including health, education and child safety, 
and cultural representatives. These multi-agency specialists assess and respond to young 
people’s needs and factors that may contribute to their offending. 
 

 Engaged 158 young people and their families in the Integrated Case Management program to 
prevent and reduce offending. The program promotes community safety, supports reintegration 
into the community, and holds young people responsible for their actions. Early results from the 
trial have shown reoffending for high risk recidivist offenders reduced by 27 per cent. 
 

 Commenced using the Our Child information sharing IT system with DCSYW, Queensland Police 
Service, Office of Public Guardian, and Queensland Health. The system allows immediate 
information sharing between agencies to support timely decision making for young people in the 
youth justice system. 
 

 Trained more frontline staff in Changing Habits and Reaching Targets (CHART), which is an 
intervention program that aims at working with, and changing the behaviour of, young people 
who are at a moderate to high risk of reoffending. 

 
 Funded community organisations to deliver Bail Support Services in nine locations to support 

young people meet their bail conditions and stop reoffending. Organisations provide basic 
needs and connect young people to housing, education, health and family support, to stop 
offending and assisted 523 young people and their families in 2019-20. 

Keep communities safe  

Key achievements for 2019-20: 

 Opened the new ($27 million) 16-bed facility within the Brisbane Youth Detention Centre 
(BYDC), which increased bed capacity at the BYDC from 146 beds to 162 beds. Called Blue 
Gum, the new facility includes infrastructure for education support.  
 

 Commenced construction of a new 32-bed detention centre at Wacol, The new centre is being 
built in two stages and the first stage will be operational at the end of 2020. The centre will 
operate under its own operational model while sharing some administration and ancillary 
services with the nearby BYDC. Young people case managed by the Ipswich and Western 
Districts Youth Justice Service Centres will form the priority admissions for the new centre. The 
additional 16-bed capacity at the BYDC and the new 32-bed detention centre contribute to a 
33 per cent increase to detention centre capacity since 2015. 
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 Completed implementation of the 83 recommendations from the Independent Review of Youth 
Detention Centres. This included expansion of cultural units in detention centres, introduction 
of speech pathologists in detention centres, implementation of the restorative justice framework 
and improvements to incident response, risk assessment, complaint management and harm 
identification practices.  
 

 Upgraded security systems at the Cleveland Youth Detention Centre to maximise the safety of 
young people, staff and visitors.  
 

 Implemented body worn cameras in both detention centres to help maintain a safe and secure 
environment for young people, staff and visitors, reduce serious incidents and improve 
accountability in detention centres. 
 

 Actively contributed to local partnerships to stop crime and assist young people including 
Community Connect in Mt Isa; Cross agency senior leadership group in South Brisbane and 
Logan; Cairns Safer Streets; Townsville Stronger Communities Action Group; More for 
Mackay; Project Street CRED on the Gold Coast; and Youth Connect on the Sunshine Coast. 

Support for First Nations Peoples  
Addressing the disproportionate representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young 
people in the youth justice system is a strategic objective of the department. We are committed to 
working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples to develop and deliver culturally safe 
and responsive solutions including through our Youth Justice Framework for Practice and our 
implementation of the Human Rights Act. We aim to achieve our objectives by building the cultural 
capability of staff, and respecting, valuing and supporting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
knowledge, beliefs and perspectives.  

Key achievements for 2019-20: 

 The First Nations Council continues to provide strategic advice and a cultural lens on major 
decisions, programs, policy and projects across the department. The First Nations Council 
helps ensure culturally sensitive and respectful consultation and collaboration regarding 
decisions made in relation to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff, children, families and 
communities. For more information see the Boards and Committee section of this report.  

 Supported the Youth Justice First Nations Action Board, which is a representative body of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff from regional service centres and each detention 
centre. The Board helps develop culturally-appropriate approaches to reduce over-
representation of First Nations peoples in the youth justice system, drives positive change, and 
provides a cultural lens across policies and procedures that relate to Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander young people, families and communities, in particular young people in the youth 
justice system 

 More than 220 staff participated in Reconciliation Week organised by the Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Cultural Unit. The week-long program of virtual activities (due to COVID-19) 
included discussion panels on reconciliation, yarning circles and storytelling, and a Mabo Day 
presentation. National Sorry Day and Reconciliation Week continue to be important to staff and 
the young people and families the department work with every day. 

Corporate Services  
When the department was established in May 2019, a shared service agreement was implemented 
with DCSYW to ensure continuity of corporate services during our transition to an independent 
department. Throughout 2019-20, the department established independent financial services, 
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liaison services and communication and media services within the department, while shared 
service arrangements with DCSYW have continued for cabinet and parliamentary services, legal 
services, ICT operations, redress and internal audit. 

The safety, health, and wellbeing of our staff is one of our core priorities. We are committed to 
investing in the wellbeing and capability of our staff, recognising their contributions, and assisting 
them to be drivers of innovation and change. The department is also maximising opportunities to 
improve technology to enable more secure management of records and information and improved 
data sharing with our partner agencies.   

Key achievements for 2019-20 

 Undertook the first Working for Queensland survey as a standalone department. Overall, the 
results were consistently higher than the Queensland Public Service. The results indicated staff 
are highly committed to making a difference to community safety but that commitment may 
sometimes come with challenges to a sustainable work-life balance. The most positive results 
included agency engagement, the performance of management, job empowerment and the 
performance of individual workgroups. 

 Commenced work on a Youth Justice Capability Blueprint Program in partnership with the 
Public Service Commission focusing on the department’s strategic capability and opportunities 
for improving systems and processes to support the work of staff. The program adopted a 
strength-based approach and involved engagement with senior leaders, staff, unions and other 
external stakeholders. Implementation will be a priority in 2020-21. 

 Commenced implementation of the Unify program (led by DCSYW) that will replace the 
department’s Integrated Client Management System (ICMS). Unify will enable improved 
information sharing, including with courts, and better reporting mechanisms for therapeutic 
services and restorative justice processes. 

 Implemented an electronic information management system called iDOCS, to simplify and 
strengthen record keeping practices and improve information security. 

Legislative reforms  
The department worked with stakeholders to deliver a number of legislative reforms during 
2019-20 including: 

 a new bail decision-making framework 
 a contemporary information sharing framework to assist government and non-government 

organisations to meet the needs of young people in the justice system 
 streamlining pre-sentence report requirements 
 authorising recordings and use of body-worn cameras in detention centres 
 facilitating community visitor functions at child accommodation services provided or funded by 

the department  
 strengthening the requirement for police to contact a parent of a child who has been arrested or 

served with a notice to appear, and requiring police to contact a legal aid organisation before 
questioning a child in relation to an indictable offence 

 providing that a notice to appear for a child must require the child to appear at the court most 
convenient for the child to access 

 clarifying arrangements for the management of children in court cells, and 
 time-limited COVID-19-related provisions. 
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Building a fairer, more inclusive and harmonious Queensland 
Under the Disability Services Act 2006, each Queensland Government department is required to 
develop a Disability Service Plan. The department’s Disability Service Plan 2020 outlines the 
actions we are taking to progress the priorities of the All Abilities Queensland: opportunities for all 
State disability plan plus our response to COVID-19. The plan demonstrates how we will work with 
our partners to build a fairer, more inclusive Queensland where people with disability, their families 
and carers are able to access the same opportunities, on the same basis as everyone else. A copy 
of the plan and annual report on our progress can be found at: www.youthjustice.qld.gov.au/about-
us/our-publications.  

The department also progressed implementation of its multicultural action plan that aligns with the 
whole-of-government Multicultural Policy ‘Our story, our future’. Work in 2019-20 included 
providing access to the Special Broadcasting Service’s Cultural Competence Program, assisting 
young people from culturally diverse backgrounds with education and training opportunities 
through Transition to Success, and strengthening recruitment and selection materials to support 
inclusive attraction and selection methods for selection panels. 
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Our future priorities 
The future focus of the department is to deliver on implementing the first whole-of-government 
Youth Justice Strategy Working Together Changing the Story and overall investment of $332 
million underpinned by monitoring and evaluation to ensure we improve community safety. 

Major activities in 2020-21 to keep communities safe will include to: 

 Continue to plan to prevent and rapidly respond to any spread of COVID-19 at any of our 
facilities and work places, to keep our staff and young people safe and well. This includes by 
maintaining business continuity plans, ensuring suitable rapid response capabilities, and 
ensuring access to PPE resources. 
 

 Commission the new 32-bed youth detention centre at Wacol. When combined with the 
additional 16 beds at BYDC that become operational in 2019-20 this will mean a 33 per cent 
increase in total detention centre capacity since 2015.  
 

 Employ and train staff at the Brisbane Youth Detention Centre and the Cleveland Youth 
Detention Centre to ensure the safety of young people, visitors, staff and the community. 
 

 Continue to upgrade security systems at the Cleveland Youth Detention Centre.  
 

 Continue providing cultural services in police watch houses so Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander young people can access appropriate supports. 
 

 Continue the four-year trial of the On Country programs in Mount Isa, Townsville, and Cairns to 
promote life skills and improved behaviours and connection between young people and their 
family and community. 
 

 Continue the trial of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander family-led decision making, which 
empowers and supports families to identify and address their child’s needs and appropriate 
resources within their family and community to stop re-offending.  
 

 Continue the co-responder model with the Queensland Police Service in Cairns, Townsville, 
Rockhampton, Brisbane North and Logan/Gold Coast.  

 
 Continue the Mount Isa Youth Transitional Hub to help provide a suitable place for police to 

refer young people who do not have appropriate accommodation or safe home environments.  
 
 Collaborate further with the Queensland Police Service on the Conditional Bail Program, to 

provide community-based supervision and support for high risk young people on bail. 
 

 Broaden the Integrated Case Management program and intervention strategies to reduce and 
prevent offending.  
 

 Continue expanding the Transition to Success program (T2S) to a total of 20 locations. 
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Governance and management 
Governance framework 
The department is committed to the principles outlined in the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, which 
are embedded in our corporate governance framework and guide our decision making. Our 
governance arrangements, including organisational structure and delegations, position us to 
respond to future challenges through integrated responses around strategy, customer and 
stakeholder engagement. They also help to ensure we deliver improved outcomes for 
Queenslanders in prioritising innovation in how we invest and commission services. 

Clear lines of accountability, defined roles and reporting relationships, robust management 
standards, and internal and external accountability measures contribute to a strong control 
environment and a culture of effective risk management. 

The Financial Delegations Framework contains clearly articulated, position-based financial 
delegations, travel delegations, and approval authorities for Queensland Shared Services 
positions. Human resources delegations address all aspects of human resources activities, and 
statutory delegations provide the Director-General with the means to delegate statutory powers or 
functions to other positions. 

Governance committee structure 
Our governance committees provide stewardship of the agency’s strategic direction and 
performance, and help ensure we comply with statutory obligations, probity and propriety, 
regulatory requirements, and standards relating to access, equity, inclusion, diversity and cultural 
capability. Our governance committees are the: 

 Leadership Board
 Executive Leadership Team
 Audit and Risk Committee.
 Fraud and Corruption Control Committee – joint with DCSYW
 Information and Innovation Committee – joint with DCSYW
 First Nations Council – joint with DCSYW

The Financial Services team supports our governance framework and guides our focus on current 
and emerging financial management issues and opportunities for improving financial practices. 
The Financial Services team also has responsibilities for internal controls, governance and risk, 
procurement, property services, and service delivery matters.  

The department is also a member of the joint Information Security Steering Committee with 
DCSYW, the Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors (DCDSS), and the 
Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships. The role of the committee is to: 
direct the preparation and implementation of information security policies and processes; direct 
and evaluate information security plans and objectives; review and monitor performance and 
conformance to obligations; and develop information security capability within the department. 

Executive management 
The Leadership Board is the department’s key strategic governing body and meet monthly. It 
focusses on: the department’s overall direction and alignment to strategy; building and maintaining 
the department’s strategic partnerships; performance (financial and non-financial); infrastructure; 
innovation; and responses to emerging issues. Further information is provided in the boards and 
committees section of this report.  
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Leadership Board members as at 30 June 2020 are listed below: 
 
Chair: Robert Gee, Director-General (Chair), APM  
Robert (Bob) Gee APM was appointed as Director-General for the Department of Youth Justice in 
May 2019. Prior to this, Bob was the Deputy Police Commissioner, Regional Operations in the 
Queensland Police Service (QPS). Bob was also the State Disaster Coordinator, a board member 
of the Queensland Reconstruction Authority, and the QPS Indigenous Champion prior to taking up 
this role. Bob has worked in central agencies, as a university lecturer, as a consultant across a 
broad range of industries, been a CIO and was a Commissioned Officer of police for over 20 years.  

Bob has a Masters degree in Public Administration, GAICD, and was a recipient of the Harvard 
Club of Australia Sir James Wolfensohn Scholarship in 2013. Bob has a deep commitment to staff, 
building stakeholder relationships, community safety, prevention and providing pathways for 
people across the breadth of the State to come together to improve quality of life and resilience, 
particularly for those who are most vulnerable in Queensland’s diverse local communities. He 
values research being used pragmatically to improve social and economic policy and practice. 

Phillip Brooks, Deputy Director-General 
Phillip was appointed as the Deputy Director-General of the Department of Youth Justice in 
September 2019. Phillip has worked within the Police Service, Child Safety and Youth Justice 
portfolio's in Queensland, including a range of senior roles. Prior to this role he was Commissioner 
of the Queensland Family and Child Commission and Regional Director, North Queensland (Child 
Safety and Community Services). He was recently appointed as an inaugural Board member of 
Child Death Review Board under the Family and Child Commission Act 2014.  
 
Darren Hegarty, Senior Executive Director, Youth Detention and Operations 
Darren commenced in the positon of Senior Executive Director in Youth Justice Services in 
DCSYW in September 2018 and was appointed to the role in May 2020. Darren has led a number 
of positive and significant reforms for children and young people in both the youth justice and child 
safety systems. This has included the Youth Justice Strategy and Action Plans; Out of Home Care 
Reinvestment program, including Queensland’s first Mental Health Recovery Residential; improved 
service delivery frameworks within Child Safety; targeted outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander families; stronger engagement with community Elder groups and Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander service providers; and the re-focused investment in Intensive Family Support for 
children and young people. Darren has a Bachelor of Social Work from the James Cook University 
and has extensive experience in providing innovative approaches to solving complex problems 
within the human services sector. 
 
Dr Lisa Pollard, Senior Executive Director, Strategy and Performance  
Lisa was appointed to the role of Senior Executive Director Strategy and Performance in February 
2020 to focus on strategic change in the Youth Justice system including supporting families, 
intervening early and community safety. She is experienced in strategic and operational leadership 
in central government and regional areas and working with diverse groups including Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples. Lisa has also led strategic policy change and improved cross 
government coordination in the fields of infrastructure, and social and regional planning and 
development. Lisa has worked in government, industry and non-government organisations and has 
a PhD in Social Impact Assessment in Australia. 
 
Sandra Moore, Senior Executive Director, Regional Services, BSc, GradDipMgt, MBA, GAICD, 
FIML  
Sandra was appointed as the Regional Executive Director, Department of Communities, Child 
Safety and Disability Services, North Queensland Region in January 2015 and transitioned to the 
Department of Child Safety, Youth and Woman in 2018; and subsequently to the Department of 
Youth Justice as the Senior Executive Director, Regional Services in 2019. In previous years, 
Sandra held several Executive and Senior Leadership roles within the non-government sector and 
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private enterprise, which have included Chief Operating Officer for the Central and North West 
Queensland Medicare Local and Regional Manager for the Cancer Council Queensland.  Sandra 
has completed her accreditation with the Australian Institute of Company Directors and has served 
on a number of internal and external Executive Committees and Boards throughout her career. 
 
Genevieve Gilles-Day, Chief Human Resources Officer, People and Culture   
Genevieve commenced in the role of Chief Human Resources Officer in May 2019. She is an 
experienced human resource professional with more than 25 years’ experience in a range of roles 
in both state and federal government. Over her career in the Queensland Government, Genevieve 
has experience in the portfolios of youth justice, child safety, communities, disability services, local 
government and the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. Genevieve has extensive experience 
as an HR professional across the full spectrum of HR and the employment lifecycle. She is 
strongly committed to providing expert HR support to ensure the department is best placed to 
make a positive difference to the communities of Queensland. She has a Graduate Certificate in 
Business.  
 
Darceina Brocket, CPA, Chief Finance Officer, Financial Services and Governance, Procurement 
and Property Services 
Darceina was temporarily appointed to the role of Chief Finance Officer in October 2019 to provide 
high level corporate services, including financial management, risk management, procurement, 
property services and governance.  Before joining the department, Darceina was the Manager of 
Finance with Trade and Investment Queensland for five years and was involved in establishing this 
statutory authority in 2014.  Darceina has worked in both the non-government and government 
sectors including Legal Aid Queensland, the Administrative Appeals Tribunal and private 
construction and consultancy firms. 
 
Darrin Bond, Assistant Director-General and Chief Information Officer, Information, Innovation 
and Recovery, Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women (shared service), BSc 
(IT/Mathematics) 
Darrin was appointed the Chief Information Officer for the former Department of Communities, 
Child Safety and Disability Services in 2012; and was appointed to the role of Assistant Director-
General and Chief Information Officer of the Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women in 
late-2017, taking the role of CIO for not only DCSYW but also the Department of Youth Justice and 
the Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors. Darrin has more than 33 years’ 
experience working in Government and Executive management roles and the Information and 
Communication Technology industry. Darrin has overseen the delivery of a number of strategic 
and innovative initiatives including: moving services to the cloud; automation of ICT service 
delivery; integrating data across government agencies to assist in the search for missing children, 
with the implementation of the Our Child solution; and digitising services across the child protection 
system to staff, partners, foster carers and vulnerable children by delivering solutions such as 
kicbox, Carer Connect and CS Xpress. Darrin oversaw the delivery the Detailed Business Case for 
the replacement of the Integrated Client Management System and the commencement of the Unify 
Program Stage 1 in July 2019, with a completion date of early 2021.  
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Our values and ethics  
We are committed to the Queensland public sector values (customers first, ideas into action, 
unleash potential, be courageous and empower people) which define the way we do business. We 
invest in the development and capability of our staff, and prioritise their safety, health and 
wellbeing.  

We are committed to the highest level of ethical conduct and promote a culture that reflects the 
department’s integrity framework, ensuring any allegation of corrupt conduct is taken seriously and 
thoroughly assessed. The department provides ethical decision-making and code of conduct 
training, which 631 staff completed during 2019-20. 
 
Public service values and ethics are reflected in our policies, procedures and plans. Our workforce 
strategy is a key component to ensure accountability and actions continue to be consistent with our 
values. 
 
Allegations of corrupt conduct, or breaches of the Code of Conduct for the Queensland Public 
Service or certain legislation are referred to the department’s Professional Standards unit to 
ensure all allegations are properly assessed. The matter is assessed with consideration given to 
the definition of corrupt conduct outlined in section 15 of the Crime and Corruption Act 2001, the 
Public Service Commissions’ Conduct and Performance Excellence (CaPE) framework and the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2010. 
During 2019-20 the department: 

 Managed 75 matters from 2018-19 (48 corrupt conduct and 27 misconduct) 
 Received 96 new matters (49 corrupt conduct and 47 misconduct) 
 Closed 71 matters (31 corrupt conduct and 40 misconduct) 
  
The outcomes from the 71 matters closed during 2019-20 included were:  
 Substantiated or partially substantiated – 22 matters involving 25 staff  

- Employees terminated – 17  
- Employees disciplined –  5 
- Other – 3  

 Management Action – 34 matters involving 59 staff 
 Subject officer resigned – 2  
 Unsubstantiated – 8  
 Assessed as no substance – 5  
 

Human rights  
The Human Rights Act 2019 commenced in its entirety on 1 January 2020. The Human Rights Act 
contains 23 protected human rights and places obligations on ‘public entities’, which include 
government departments and organisations performing functions of a public nature, for example, 
non-government organisations funded by the Queensland Government to deliver services. 

The department is committed to respecting, protecting and promoting human rights in our decision 
making and actions. The department partnered with DCSYW on an implementation project from 
July 2019 to June 2020 to examine and strengthen its compatibility with human rights in legislation, 
policy, service delivery, program design and decision making, and organisational culture. Full 
implementation will be an ongoing and iterative process underpinned by engaged leadership and 
staff, ongoing training and knowledge raising, improved complaints management, and refined 
policies and procedures that inform daily decision making.  
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In 2019-20, the following activities were undertaken to further the objects of the Human Rights Act:  

 included human rights in the department’s strategic plan  
 reviewed legislation administered by the department for compatibility with human rights – no 

amendments were proposed 
 reviewed all departmental policies and procedures for compatibility with human rights – all were 

assessed as compatible, and those suitable for strengthening are being progressively updated 
 introduced an overarching human rights policy to assist service centre staff act and make 

decisions compatibly with the Human Rights Act 
 strengthened human rights guidance for detention centre staff, including in the Youth Detention 

Centre Operations Manual and in relation to complaints management processes  
 delivered 47 face-to-face information sessions to 483 staff state wide to build human rights 

knowledge and capability – post session feedback from participants indicated a high level of 
confidence in being able to apply human rights in daily decision making 

 introduced online human rights training, which was completed by 1229 staff  
 partnered with DCSYW, DCDSS, the Department of Housing and Public Works and the 

Queensland Human Rights Commission to deliver 22 information sessions to funded service 
providers in major centres across the state  

 incorporated human rights into the induction pack for young people entering youth detention 
centres 

 adjusted templates for Director-General and Ministerial executive correspondence to embed 
human rights  

 recognised human rights in the department’s inaugural Disability Service Plan 2020. 

Human rights and COVID-19  
During COVID-19 the department played an important role to protect children, young people and 
their families who come into contact with the justice system. From a human rights perspective the 
department took action and made decisions which especially protected the following rights:  

 Right to life – by prioritising health, safety and wellbeing of young people and staff 
 Protecting families and children – by ensuring family contact could continue by using 

technology  
 Cultural rights - Aboriginal people and Torres Strait Islander people – by ensuring cultural unit 

staff in detention centres continued to support to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander young 
people especially regarding operational decisions related to COVID-19 

 Right to education – by maintaining onsite educational programs in detention centres delivered 
by the Department of Education 

 Right to health services – by ensuring ongoing support from Behaviour Support Teams and 
Queensland Health to young people and their families.  

 
During our response to COVID-19 it is acknowledged that on occasions human rights were 
temporarily limited, for example freedom of movement and protection of families and children. In 
taking these actions and making these decisions the department was mindful of its obligation to act 
compatibly with human rights, by ensuring that any limitations on human rights were reasonable 
and justified.  

Actions taken by the department to minimise limitations on human rights included:  

 ensured flexible responses so services could continue despite social distancing requirements 

Department of Youth Justice - Annual Report 2019-20 29



 

  

 revised practice guidance to staff to reinforce the paramount priority on the safety and 
wellbeing of young people in youth detention, while ensuring ongoing compatibility with human 
rights  

 staggered the movement of young people in detention centres to adhere to social distancing 
requirements 

 worked closely with legal representatives and courts to ensure young people’s courts matters, 
and in particular bail applications, were prioritised  

 engaged with interstate jurisdictions about approaches to managing COVID-19 to ensure risks 
were considered and contingencies developed. 

Human rights complaints  
The department received two formal human rights complaints between 1 January and 30 June 
2020. One was on behalf of a young person in a detention centre and involved three allegations – 
two allegations have been assessed as having no substance and one allegation is subject to 
investigation. The other was from a staff member regarding a workplace grievance and was yet to 
be finalised as at 30 June 2020. 

Additionally, through the analysis of complaints received the department identified 23 alleged 
incidents in youth detention centres which included actions from staff that were potentially 
incompatible with human rights. The human rights engaged and potentially limited included:  

 right to life and humane treatment when deprived of liberty e.g. as a result of excessive force 
 protection from torture and cruel or inhuman or degrading treatment e.g. body searching and 

inappropriate language  
 right to education e.g. regarding program scheduling 
 recognition and equality before the law e.g. different hygiene options for boys and girls 
 protection of families and children e.g. threatening words  
 
From the 23 incidents identified in detention centres, 12 were referred to the department’s 
Professional Standards Unit, one was referred to the Queensland Police Service for consideration 
and the remainder were considered suitable to be responded to locally. As at 30 June 2020, 12 of 
the detention centre incidents had been investigated and closed. While there were no 
substantiated breaches of human rights opportunities were taken by management to reflect on 
actions taken and reinforce good practice with staff.  
 

Complaints management  
The department provides a complaints management system, in accordance with 219A of the 
Public Service Act 2008, allowing clients and the general public the opportunity to voice their 
satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our services. From 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020, the department 
received 118 complaints, two related to procurement and 116 related to detention centres.  

In accordance with section 219A of the Public Service Act 2008, by 30 September each year we 
are required to publish the following information on the department’s website: 

 number of customer complaints received by the department in the year 
 number of those complaints resulting in further action 
 number of those complaints resulting in no further action. 

This information can be found at: www.youthjustice.qld.gov.au/contact-us/compliments-complaints. 
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Risk management and oversight 
Risk management 
The Financial Accountability Act 2009 requires the accountable officer to establish and maintain 
appropriate systems of internal control and risk management.  

The department’s governance arrangements ensure risks are considered at all levels of the 
department, with the Audit and Risk Committee providing oversight of the effective performance of 
our risk management framework. 

The department manages its financial risks and liabilities by reviewing financial performance 
through our governance framework. The Audit and Risk Committee, supported by the Fraud and 
Corruption Control Committee, provides risk guidance and leadership around audit activities, audit 
recommendations, financial reporting, fraud and corruption, internal controls and compliance. 

Audit and Risk Committee and internal audit 
The department’s Audit and Risk Committee, with responsibility for overseeing the performance of 
the internal audit function, meets quarterly and is chaired by an external member. 

The department receives its internal audit services from the Department of Child Safety, Youth and 
Women (DCSYW). The arrangement is formalised under a Memorandum of Understanding, which 
provides independence of departmental management and external auditors. 

The appointed Head of Internal Audit, Mr Ian Rushworth satisfies the requirements that there is a 
Head of Internal Audit under the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial Accountability 
Regulation 2019 Section 5 who is a Professional Member, Institute of Internal Auditors – Australia 
(PMIIA) and a Certified Internal Auditor (CIA). 

The internal audit function is undertaken in accordance with a strategic internal audit plan approved 
by the Director-General. The Internal Audit Charter is consistent with relevant legislation, better 
practice guides and international internal auditing standards. Internal Audit’s assurance activities 
complement departmental monitoring practices and oversight from external regulators and central 
agencies. 

In 2019-20 the following Internal Audit Reviews were completed: 

 Leave and Attendance – Youth Detention Centres
 Suicide Prevention Initiatives in Communities
 Chief Finance Officer Assurance Process.

Internal audit assurance was also provided for the Procure to Invest (P2i) system data migration. 

External scrutiny 
The work of the department is subject to a number of oversight mechanisms and a number of 
bodies provide a robust framework for ensuring accountability and improvement including the 
Queensland Audit Office, the Crime and Corruption Commission, the Queensland Ombudsman and 
the Office of the Public Guardian. The Queensland Family and Child Commission are also 
overviewing implementation of the initiatives arising from the Youth Justice Strategy and examining 
options that will inform future youth justice systems and processes.  

Significant activities in 2019-20 that relate to the department are noted below. 
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Queensland Audit Office 

The Queensland Audit Office is the independent auditor of the Queensland public sector. It 
conducts financial audits and performance audits to provide public confidence in the reliability of 
public sector entity financial statements and operating performance. The following report is 
applicable to the department. 

Audit report Response 

Managing Cyber 
Security Risks 

In this audit of several government entities other than this department, 
the Queensland Audit Office examined whether entities effectively 
manage their cyber security risks, including understanding and 
assessing the extent to which their information assets and 
organisational processes are exposed, and designing and 
implementing effective information controls to mitigate identified risks. 

Recommendations included that all public sector entities should assess 
themselves against the findings of the report and, where relevant, 
address their cyber security framework, information classification 
policies and procedures, cyber security risk identification and 
assessment, information asset management, risk mitigation strategies, 
monitoring and logging. 

The department assessed itself against all 17 recommendations, and 
has completed actions to meet recommendations 1-3. 
Recommendations 4-17 are considered relevant to the department’s 
risk appetite and exposure, and work has commenced to implement 
those recommendations. It is expected that all outstanding actions will 
be completed by 30 June 2021. 

Crime and Corruption Commission 

The Crime and Corruption Commission (CCC) aims to reduce the incidence of major crime and 
corruption in the public sector in Queensland. Its functions and powers are set out in the Crime and 
Corruption Act 2001. The following report is applicable to the department. 

Report Response 

Operation Impala – A 
report on misuse of 
confidential 
information in the 
Queensland public 
sector 

Operation Impala examined improper access and dissemination of 
confidential information by several public sector agencies other than 
this department. A report was tabled in Parliament in February 2020 
containing 18 recommendations to strengthen practices and improve 
consistency across the public sector. Nine of the recommendations 
apply to all public sector agencies and cover topics such as:  access 
control mechanisms, audit responsibility when sharing data, and 
privacy awareness messaging. 

The department has reviewed the recommendations raised and 
continues to develop actions where appropriate to strengthen the 
control environment. 

Department of Youth Justice - Annual Report 2019-20 32



 

Queensland Ombudsman  

The Queensland Ombudsman’s role is to give people a timely, effective and independent way to 
have administrative actions of agencies investigated; improve the quality of decision-making and 
administrative practice in government agencies; and provide oversight of the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 2010.  

The Queensland Ombudsman made no formal report recommendations for the department in 
2019-20.  

The Ombudsman’s Brisbane Youth Detention Centre investigation report was tabled in Parliament 
in March 2019. All 17 recommendations were accepted or accepted in principle. The 
implementation of recommendations continued during the year with 11 complete at 30 June 2020 
and the remainder on track for completion by 31 December 2020.  

Office of the Public Guardian  

The Office of the Public Guardian provides a community visitor and advocacy program to protect 
the rights and interests of children and young people in care and at visitable sites, including youth 
detention centres. The department provides quarterly reports to the Office of the Public Guardian 
in accordance with section 39 of the Youth Justice Regulation 2016.  

Independent Review of Youth Detention Centres     

The Independent Review of Youth Detention Centres was conducted by Kathryn McMillan QC and 
Professor Megan Davis in 2016 and examined the practice, policies and programs of Queensland 
youth detention centres. A total of 83 recommendations were made and all were accepted by 
government. The implementation of the recommendations was finalised in June 2020. More 
information about the review is available at www.youthdetentionreview.qld.gov.au. 

Detention centre inspectorate  
The department’s statutory inspections of Queensland's youth detention centres are conducted 
quarterly by principal inspectors who are part of the Office of the Director-General.  

The model used for inspections reflects: relevant Queensland Laws; recommendations from the 
Commission of Inquiry into Abuse of Children in Queensland Institutions (Forde Inquiry); 
recommendations from the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody; and United 
Nations conventions and standards about the rights of children in detention. 

The Youth Detention Inspectorate determines the areas of focus for each quarterly inspection by 
considering: emerging risk; implementation of legislation, policy and standards; past reviews and 
recommendations. 

The executive summary of each report plus the department’s response are published online and 
available at www.publications.qld.gov.au/dataset/youth-detention-centres-quarterly-reports. 
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Strategic workforce planning and 
performance   
Workforce profile 
The breakdown of our 1,511.59 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff is provided below.  

Service Delivery  Department Total 

Frontline and frontline support  1,431.99 (94.73%) 

Corporate 79.60 (5.27%) 

Total 1,511.59 (100%) 

 
A breakdown of our FTE staff by employment status is as follows: 

 1,210.11 permanent staff (80.06% of the total staff) 
 202.84 temporary staff (13.42% of the total staff) 
 91.64 casual staff (6.06% of the total staff) 
 7.00 contract staff (0.46% of the total staff) 
 

The department’s permanent separation rate is 11.03 per cent. This is calculated by dividing the 
number of permanent employees who separated during 2019-20 by the number of permanent 
employees in the department.  

The department’s employment diversity as at 19 June 2020 (the last full pay period of the financial 
year) compared to the Queensland Public Sector benchmark average (as at the quarter ended 30 
June 2019) is detailed below.  

Diversity category Department 
Queensland Public 
Sector average 

Gender Diversity – Women 55.45% 69.58% 

Culturally and linguistically diverse 6.24% 9.99% 

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 9.39% 2.43% 

People experiencing disability 1.51% 2.93% 

Workforce capability  
We aim to build the capacity and capability of our staff to enable them to partner effectively and 
drive innovation. We are committed to creating an innovative blended learning environment that 
aligns with the department’s Strategic Plan and delivers sustainable, contemporary and best 
practice content. Our approach to learning and development is underpinned by a growth mindset – 
the fundamental belief that all employees actively seek to grow and improve their skills and 
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knowledge base and be supported in this by colleagues and leaders. This acknowledges that 
learning occurs throughout the day in every way, not just within structured learning sessions. The 
key message is in recognising that most learning occurs through work-based and on-the-job 
experiences and it is these opportunities that should be the primary focus for proactively building 
capability.   
 
Youth justice staff work with clients who have been involved with a range of complex issues 
including serious domestic and family violence, substance misuse, mental health, physical and 
sexual abuse, and disengagement from education. In recognition of this growing complexity, a 
suite of e-learning modules have been developed specifically for staff and topics will continue to be 
developed over the coming months. Virtual Classroom training delivery is complementing face-to 
face training. Lunchbox sessions and e-learning tools are being developed to support the key 
priorities for the department.  
 
Other key activities during the year to improve the capacity and capability of staff includes the 
launch and implementation of our new Youth Justice Framework for Practice and planning for 
training from Queensland Police Service on the use of force for detention centre staff.  

Professional Officers Progression Scheme 
The department is committed to building professional excellence through continuous development 
and recognition of employees. The progression scheme recognises the important and more 
advanced role of PO3 staff within the department, and establishes a fair process for progression 
from PO2 to PO3. The progression scheme applies to all full-time, part-time and casual employees 
who have received a salary at the top pay point of PO2 for a period of at least 12 months. Two 
panels were convened in May 2020 to assess progression applicants. A total of eight employees 
successfully progressed to PO3 through the scheme, including employees from the South East 
and Northern Queensland regions and from both Youth Detention Centres. 

Staff performance development 
Regular supervision, engagement and feedback allows supervisors to build relationships and 
engage meaningfully with their staff, understand their motivators, recognise and praise staff, give 
timely and useful feedback and ensure they have the resources and support necessary to perform 
their role. 
 
Through our Achievement and Capability Planning process staff are able to negotiate, plan and 
share information about their role and performance. This two way feedback and planning process 
allows employees to have a clear view of their responsibilities and areas of development. This 
jointly developed plan is updated through regular conversations between an employee and their 
manager. The discussions focus on role expectations, performance, career planning and 
development.  

Workforce attraction, recruitment and retention 
The department has a strong focus on attracting, developing and supporting skilled and committed 
staff. To support work-life balance, we provide flexible work arrangements including compressed 
work hours, flexible start and finish times, and telecommuting.  
 
We invest in our staff’s wellbeing through a range of professional workplace health services for 
both staff and their family members and continue to promote and provide access to an Employee 
Assistance Provider program at no cost to staff.  
 
Wellbeing officers in detention centres provide a primary support response and debriefs for 
employees involved in incidents on centre. The officers also provide proactive wellbeing and safety 
information to our staff. 
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Safety 
The safety, health and wellbeing of our staff are a core priority for the department, as this enables 
us to achieve our vision. The department is highly committed to developing and supporting its staff 
through contemporary people and culture solutions such as leadership development programs, 
wellbeing and safety systems, accessible human resources policies and processes and human 
centred design approaches to our strategic workforce planning.  
 
The department works actively with relevant industrial unions through regular consultative 
committee meetings at the agency, regional and local workplace level. These meetings provide a 
forum to raise, discuss and resolve health and safety matters, in all workplaces, in a collaborative 
way. 
 
To ensure safe and healthy workplaces for our employees, the department has: 
 partnered with Queensland Shared Services to provide dedicated health and safety support at 

a local level to enable employees to return safely to work following a work-related or personal 
injury or illness 

 monitored workers’ compensation performance through regular reporting  
 provided on-site employee assistance where staff required group support resulting from a 

critical incident 
 upgraded security systems at the Cleveland Youth Detention Centre, and   
 implemented body worn cameras for staff in both detention centres.  
 
During COVID-19 the department worked with the Queensland Mental Health Commission to 
develop a range of videos supporting both individuals and manager/supervisors mental health and 
wellbeing. A set of videos were made especially for our leaders focusing on leadership during 
COVID-19, with tools on communication and conversation skills to support staff as a strong leader 
during a crisis.  

COVID-19 Response 
During the COVID-19 pandemic, employees across the public service contributed to the response 
in a range of different ways. Our staff continued to provide statutory youth justice restorative, 
supervision and detention services by optimising flexible and remote working arrangements where 
possible. Our employees contributed to the whole-of-government effort by: 

 
 continuing to deliver essential services in line with normal arrangements 
 performing different work within the department to help respond to emerging need  
 performing work in the COVID-19 Response and Recovery Taskforce. 

Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment  
No redundancy, early retirement or retrenchment packages were paid in 2019-20.  
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Information systems and recordkeeping 
As a Queensland Government agency, we meet the accountability requirements of the Public 
Records Act 2002, as well as other whole-of-government policies and standards. These standards 
include the Records Governance Policy, which was released by the Queensland State Archives to 
supersede Information Standard 31: Retention and disposal of public records and Information 
Standard 40: Recordkeeping policies. 

During the year department continued to improve recordkeeping practices by: 

 implementing an electronic document and records management system called iDOCS, and 
training staff in its use 

 ensuring the management of all departmental public records was undertaken in accordance 
with relevant legislation  

 providing timely and effective recordkeeping awareness and training to staff. 
 

Acts administered by the department  
The functions and powers of the Department of Youth Justice are derived from the following Acts 
of Parliament, in accordance with the relevant Administrative Arrangements Orders. Our Director-
General, on behalf of our Minister, is responsible for administering these Acts. 

 Youth Justice Act 1992  
 Young Offenders (Interstate Transfer) Act 1987. 
 

Government bodies 
The department does not convene or administer any government body. Information about 
government bodies can be found at: https://governmentbodies.premiers.qld.gov.au/Default.aspx. 
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Boards and committees   
Leadership Board 

Description The Leadership Board is the department’s key strategic governing 
body and meets monthly. It is focussed on the overall direction and 
alignment to strategy, building and maintaining the department’s 
strategic partnerships, performance (financial and non-financial), 
infrastructure, innovation and information responses to emerging 
issues. 

Meeting frequency  Monthly 

Membership   Director-General (Chair) 
 Deputy Director-General 
 Senior Executive Director, Youth Detention and Operations 
 Senior Executive Director, Strategy and Performance 
 Senior Executive Director, Regional Services 
 Chief Human Resource Officer 
 Chief Finance Officer 
 Chief Information Officer, DCSYW (shared service) 

 

Executive Leadership Team  

Description The Executive Leadership Team maintains a focus on the 
department’s operations to ensure alignment with strategic 
priorities, promotes performance and effective partnerships 

Meeting frequency  Meets as required  

Membership   Director-General (Chair) 
 Deputy Director-General 
 Director, Office of the Director-General 
 Senior Executive Director, Youth Detention and Operations 
 Senior Executive Director, Strategy and Performance 
 Senior Executive Director, Regional Services 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 

Description The Audit and Risk Committee provides independent assurance 
and assistance to the Director-General on the risk, control and 
compliance frameworks and the department’s external 
accountability responsibilities, and other matters relevant to the 
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duties and responsibilities of the committee, and as prescribed in 
the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial Accountability 
Regulation 2019 and the Financial and Performance Management 
Standard 2019. 

The committee does not replace or replicate established 
management responsibilities and delegations, the responsibilities of 
other executive management groups, or the reporting lines and 
responsibilities of either internal audit or external audit functions. 

Meeting frequency  Quarterly 

Membership   Ms Karen Prentis (Chair – independent external member) 
 Mr Peter Dowling (independent external member) 
 Assistant Director-General, Corporate Services, DCSYW  
 Deputy Director-General, DYJ 

Standing invited 
guests  

 Director-General (special invitee) 
 Head of Internal Audit 
 Chief Finance Officer 
 Senior Director, Queensland Audit Office 
 Audit Manager, Queensland Audit Office 
 Principal Advisor, Governance and Risk 

Total remuneration 
payments and on-
costs 

In 2019-20, the external independent chair and external member 
received total remuneration of $14,850 including GST. 

 

Fraud and Corruption Control Committee (joint with DCSYW) 

Description The Fraud and Corruption Control Committee is a sub-committee 
of the Audit and Risk Committee. The committee is responsible for 
providing oversight of the department’s fraud and corruption 
prevention program, gaining assurance around the effectiveness 
of the fraud and corruption control plan and fraud risk mitigation 
and monitoring compliance with relevant legislation and 
government practices. 

The committee undertakes its role from a cross-organisational 
perspective, and ensures there is cohesiveness in its 
considerations and decisions, particularly in respect of 
departmental change and innovation activities. 

Meeting frequency  Quarterly 

Membership   Chief Finance Officer, DCSYW (Chair/Deputy Chair) 
 Executive Director, Child and Family Operations, DCSYW 
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 Director, Accounting Services, DCSYW  
 Director, Property and Procurement, DCSYW  
 Director, Information, Policy and Procurement, DCSYW  
 Director, People Services, DCSYW  
 Director, Planning and Regulatory Services, DCSYW  
 Service Delivery Representative, DCSYW 
 Chief Finance Officer, DYJ (Chair/Deputy Chair) 
 Manager, Professional Standards, DYJ 
 Director, Policy, Strategy and Legislation, DYJ 
 Director, Youth Detention Operations and Support, DYJ 
 Regional Representative, DYJ 
 Director, Office of the Director-General, DYJ (standing guest) 
 Principal Advisor, Governance and Risk (standing guest) 
 Head of Internal Audit, DCSYW (standing guest) 

 

First Nations Council (joint with DCSYW)  

Description The First Nations Council advises, informs and influences 
decision makers in the department and is integral in ensuring 
decisions made by the department are culturally meaningful and 
sensitive to achieve outcomes that benefit Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander staff, children, families and communities. 

Consisting of highly respected staff, the First Nations Council 
leads the cultural capability of the department as custodians of an 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Capability Action 
Plan (joint between DYJ and DCSYW). The First Nations Council 
also provides its collective cultural wisdom, knowledge and 
guidance to decisions, strategies, initiatives, policies and 
programs. 

Meeting frequency  Bi-monthly 

Membership  

(Membership is on the 
basis of personal 
appointment rather than 
position.) 

 

 Aunty Helen Dingle 
 Aunty Maureen Ervine  
 Aunty Rose Malone 
 Aunty Tracey Motlop 
 Uncle Leslie Skelton 
 Aunty Sharon Smith 
 Aunty Adelina Stanley 
 Aunty Kim Thursby 
 Uncle Arnold Wallis 
 Aunty Lesley Williams 
 Uncle David Don 
 Directors-General of DYJ and DCSYW (standing guests) 
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Information and Innovation Committee (joint with DCSYW and DCDSS)  

Description The Information and Innovation Committee is the ICT governance 
committee for DYJ, DCSYW and DCDSS.  

The committee manages all ICT-enabled business initiatives and 
is the primary governance body by which the departments ensure 
they maximise the value of their business investments that have 
an ICT-enabled component. 

ICT governance is a mandated policy requirement under the 
Queensland Government’s ICT resources strategic planning 
policy, Information Standard 2: Departments must establish ICT 
governance arrangements. 

Meeting frequency  Bi-monthly 

Membership   Assistant Director-General and Chief Information Officer, 
Information, Innovation and Recovery, DCSYW (Chair) 

 Assistant Director-General, Corporate Services, DCSYW  
 Assistant Director-General, Disability Connect Queensland, 

DCDSS 
 Assistant Director-General, Corporate Services, DCDSS 
 Chief Finance Officer, DCDSS 
 Senior Executive Director, Strategy and Performance, DYJ 
 Director, Regional Operations, DYJ 
 Executive Director, Practice Connect, Service Delivery, 

DCSYW 
 Executive Director, Strategy and Performance, Strategy, 

DCSYW 
 Regional Executive Director, DCSYW – rotating between 

regions every 12 months 
 Regional Director, DCSYW – rotating between regions every 

12 months 
 Head of Internal Audit and Compliance Services, DCDSS 

(Guest) 
 Chief Information Officer and Deputy Director-General, 

Department of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Partnerships (Guest) 

 Queensland Government Customer and Digital Group 
representative (Guest) 

 Director, Enterprise Program Management Office, DCSYW 
(Observer) 
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Department of Youth Justice 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

. • ' ., - . ., wbrig1nal . ' 

· Actual BudgetA Budget* 
2020 2020 Variance 

. _ . , . . . NoJ:e $'poo_ - $'000 $'000 

OPERATING RESULT 

Income from continuing operations 
Appropriation revenue B1-1 284,758 270,791 13,967 
User charges and fees B1-2 720 643 77 
Grants and other contributions 326 276 50 
Other revenue 235 235 

Total revenue 286,039 271,710 14,329 

Gains on disposal 5 5 

Total income from continuing operations 286,044 271,710 14,334 

Expenses from continuing operations 
Employee expenses B2-1 177,622 163,870 13,752 
Supplies and services B2-2 83,612 90,505 (6,893) 
Grants and subsidies 4,772 5,761 (989) 
Depreciation B2-4 17,015 11,273 5,742 
Impairment losses B2-5 148 148 
Other expenses B2-3 969 301 668 

Total expenses from continuing operations 284,138 271,710 12,428 

Operating result from continuing operations 1,906 1,906 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that will not be reclassified to operating result 
Increase in asset revaluation surplus C8-3 5,539 5,539 

Total other comprehensive income 5,539 5,539 

Total comprehensive income 7,445 7,445 

A These figures represent budgeted figures as published in the latest Service Delivery Statement tabled 
in Parliament. 

* An explanation of major variances is included at Note E1-1. 
These are the first financial statements for the Department of Youth Justice for 13 months period and no 
comparatives are required. Details are at Note A 1-2 and A 1-3. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Department of Youth Justice 

Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2020 

Original 
Actual Budget11. Budget* 
2020 2020 Variance 

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents C1 22,607 9,639 
Receivables C2 7,140 2,817 
Inventories 734 653 
Other current assets 1,867 

32,348 13,109 
Non-current assets classified as held for 
sale C3 21,500 

Total current assets 53,848 13,109 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment C4 380,803 363,498 

Total non-current assets 380,803 363,837 

Total assets 434,651 376,946 

Current liabilities 
Payables C5 15,419 815 
Accrued employee benefits C6 4,338 5,844 
Provisions C7 3,238 3,238 
Other current liabilities 125 

Total current liabilities 22,995 10,022 

Total liabilities 22,995 10,022 

Net assets 411,656 366,924 

Equity 
Contributed equity 404,130 
Accumulated surplus 1,987 
Asset revaluation surplus C8-3 5,539 

Total equity 411,656 366,924 

A These figures represent budgeted figures as published in the latest Service Delivery 
Statement tabled in Parliament. 

* An explanation of major variances is included at Note E1-2. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

12,968 
4,323 

81 
1,867 

19,239 

21,500 

40,739 

17,305 

16,966 

57,705 

14,604 
(1,506) 

(125) 

12,973 

12,973 

44,732 

404,130 
1,987 
5,539 

44,732 
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Department of Youth Justice 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the eriod 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 • 

Operating result 
Net effect of changes in accounting policies - derecognition of 
of lease incentive liabilities (Note A 1-8-3) 

Operating result from continuing operations 
Other comprehensive income 

- Net increase in asset revaluation surplus (Note CS-3) 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

Transactions with owners as owners 
- Net equity withdrawals (Note CS-2) 
- Net transfers in/(out) from other Queensland Government entities -

other (Note CS-1) 

Net Transactions with owners as owners 

Balance as at 30 June 2020 

. Accumulated . ' 
Contributed 

I 
Asset Revaluation T t 

1 " . surp us o a , 
Equity Surplus ' 

$'000 $'000 $'000 , $'000 , . "s,, 

81 81 

1,906 1,906 

5,539 5,539 
1,987 5,539 7,526 

67,639 67,639 

336,491 336,491 
404,130 404,130 

404,130 1,987 5,539 411,656 
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Department of Youth Justice 
Statement of Cash Flow 
for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

Original 
Actual Budget A Budget* 

2020 2020 Variance 
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Inflows: 

Service appropriation receipts 286,138 267,287 18,851 
User charges and fees 1,346 520 826 
Grants and other contributions 326 276 50 
GST input tax credits received from ATO 12,903 12,903 
GST collected from customers 70 70 
Other 229 229 

Outflows: 
Employee expenses (180,147) (163,048) (17,099) 
Supplies and services (82,358) (91,200) 8,842 
Grants and subsidies (3,100) (5,761) 2,661 
GST paid to suppliers (14,943) (14,943) 
GST remitted to ATO (70) (70) 
Other (610) 1,514 (2,124) 

Net cash provided by operating activities CF-1 19,784 9,588 10,196 

Cash Flow from Investing Activities 
Inflows: 

Sales of property, plant and equipment 21,500 (21,500) 

Outflows: 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (87,341} (62,787} (24,554} 

Net cash used in investing activities (87,341) (41,287) (46,054) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Inflows: 

Equity injections 90,629 48,900 41,729 

Outflows: 
Equity withdrawals (14,291} (27,705} 13,414 

Net cash provided by financing activities 76,338 21,195 55,143 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,781 (10,504) 19,285 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
through restructuring 13,826 12,665 1,161 
Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance 

Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance C1 22,607 2,161 20,446 

A These figures represent budgeted figures as published in the latest Service Delivery Statement 
tabled in Parliament. 

* An explanation of major variances is included at Note E1-3. 

The accompanying notes form part of these f;nancial statements. 
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Department of Youth Justice 

Statement of Cash Flow 
for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

CF-1 Reconciliation of Operating Result to Net Cash 
Provided by Operating Activities - Controlled 

Operating surplus/( deficit) 

Non-cash items included in operating result 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Loss (gain) on disposal of non-current assets 
Impairment losses 

Change in assets and liabilities ~ 
(Increase) decrease in GST input tax credits receivable 
Increase (decrease) in receivable 
(Increase) decrease in Inventories 

(Increase) decrease in other assets 
Increase (decrease) in payables 
(Increase) decrease in accrued employee benefits 
Increase (decrease) in Provisions 
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

-.m 
IIIIB!liD 

1,906 

17,015 
112 
105 

(2,040) 
1,710 

(81) 

(1,165) 
1,080 
(472) 

1,600 
14 

19,784 

~ Changes in assets and liabilities represent the movement from initial transfer of these assets 
and liabilities as a result of MoG to the end of the financial year. 
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Department of Youth Justice 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

A1 Preparation information - basis of financial statement preparation 

A1-1 The reporting entity 

The Department of Youth Justice (the department) is a Queensland Government department established 
under the Public SeNice Act 2008 and controlled by the State of Queensland, which is the ultimate parent. The 
department was established on 20 May 2019 as a result of the Public Service Departmental Arrangements Notice 
(No. 1) 2019, dated 17 May 2019. 

The head office of the department is 1 William Street, Brisbane QLD 4000. 

The department has considered its power over funded non-government organisations, its exposure or rights (e.g. 
protective and substantive rights) to variable returns from its involvement with those entities and the ability to use its 
power to affect return amounts (e.g. ability to direct relevant major activities). The department has not entered into any 
contractual arrangements which involve the sharing of control or significant influence over another entity. As a result, 
the department has determined that it does not control any other entity and has no interests in unconsolidated 
structured entities. 

The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the department. 

A1-2 Compliance with prescribed requirements 

The department has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 38 of the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2019. These financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury's Minimum 
Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019. 

Under s44(4) of the previous Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, the Treasurer of Queensland 
has approved for the department's annual report and financial statements for 2019-20 to be inclusive of an extended 
13-month period from 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020. 

The department is a not-for-profit entity and these general purpose financial statements are prepared on an accrual 
basis (except for the Statement of Cash Flow which is prepared on a cash basis) in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations applicable to not-for-profit entities. 

New accounting standards applied for the first time in these financial statements are outlined in Note A 1-8. 

A1-3 Presentation 

Currency and Rounding 
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where 
that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required. 

Comparatives 
The department was established as a result of the Public Service Departmental Arrangements Notice (No. 1) 2019, 
effective 20 May 2019. The department has no comparative reporting for the 2018-19 financial year. 

Current/Non-Current Classification 
Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the statement of financial position and 
associated notes. 

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after the 
reporting date. Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
date, or the department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Measurement 
The historical cost convention is used unless fair value is stated as the measurement basis. Provisions expected to be 
settled 12 months or more after the reporting date are measured at their present value. Inventories are measured at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

A1 Basis of Financial Statement Preparation (continued) 

A1-4 Authorisation of financial statements for issue 

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Director-General and Chief Finance Officer at the date of 

signing the Management Certificate. 

A1-5 Controlled transactions and balances 

Transactions and balances are controlled by the department where they can be deployed for achievement of the 

departmental objectives. 

The department does not administer any activities on behalf of Whole- of- Government and all reported balances and 

transactions in these financial statements and notes are controlled. 

A1-6 Taxation 

The department is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from 

Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST). FBT 

and GST are the only taxes accounted for by the department. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to, the 

ATO are recognised (refer to Note C2). 

A1-7 Accounting estimates and judgments 

A1-8 

A1-8-1 

A1-8-2 

A1-8-3 

Critical judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential significant effect are outlined in the following 

financial statement notes: 

Note C4-6 Fair value measurement 

Note C4-7 
Note C7 

Basis for fair values of assets 
Provision 

First year application of new accounting standards or change in accounting policy 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The department applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in 2019-20. The standard applies to the 

department's existing contracts with employees for their public housing rent contribution. The only obligation under 

these contracts is to provide the employee with housing and revenue is recognised when received from the 

employees once housing is provided. 

The revenue is received from sales of services after the services are provided and the department fulfils its obligation. 

AASB 1058 Income of not -for- Profit Entities 

The department applied AASB 1058 Income of Not-for- Profit Entities in 2019-20. This standard applies to 

transactions where the department acquires an asset for significantly less than fair value to enable it to further its 

objectives and the receipt of volunteer services. 

The department receives appropriation to fund its Youth Justice Services and the department did not receive any 

volunteer services during the reporting period. 

AASB 16 Lease 

AASB 16 Leases is applied for the first time in 2019-20. Under AASB 117 Leases the department held operating 

leases via Department of Housing and Public Works (DHPW) for non specialised commercial office accommodation 

through the Queensland Government Accommodation Office (QGAO) and residential accommodation through the 

Government Employee Housing (GEH) program. 

Effective 1 July 2019, the framework agreements that govern QGAO and GEH were amended so these leases no 

longer meet the definition of a lease under AASB 16 Leases and therefore are exempt from lease accounting. 

The cost of these services are expensed as supplies and services when incurred. The department has elected to 

recognise lease payments for all other lease arrangements identified as short- term or low value asset as expenses 

over the lease term rather than accounting for them on the statement of financial position as these are assessed to be 

immaterial. 

On transition, lease incentive assets and liabilities relating to operating leases as transferred to the department from 

DCSYW due to MoG changes were derecognised against opening accumulated surplus. 
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Department of Youth Justice 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

A2 Departmental objectives 

The department's vision is to have a safe community with the lowest rate of youth offending or reoffending in 
Queensland. The department aims to achieve its vision for Queenslanders to be safe through the following 
objectives: 

intervene early to address the causes of youth offending; 
enable young Queenslanders to avoid offending; 
address the disproportionate representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in the 
youth justice system; 

improve social, economic and civil participation to keep children out of court custody; and 
reduce recidivism. 

The department is funded principally by parliamentary appropriations for the youth services it delivers. 

A3 Machinery-of-Government (MoG) changes 

Transfers in - controlled activities 

Details of transfer: 

Basis of transfer: 

Date of transfer: 

The Youth Justice functions were transferred from DCSYW to DY J. 

Public Service Departmental Arrangements Notice (No.1) dated 17 May 2019 

Effective from 20 May 2019. 

Transactions related to DYJ from 20 May 2019 to 31 May 2019 were reported in the financial statements of the 
transferring department DCSYW for year ending 30 June 2019 and are excluded from the department's financial 
statements. 

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows: 

Total 
Assets $'000 
Current 

Cash 13,826 
Receivables 7,173 
Inventories 653 
Non-financial assets held for sale 21,500 

Non-Current 
Property, plant and equipment 304,875 
Other non-current assets 339 

348,365 

Liabilities $'000 
Current 

Payables 5,340 
Accrued employee benefits 4,810 
Provision 1,566 
other current liabilities 18 

Non-Current 
Payables 417 
Provisions 73 

12,224 
Net assets 336,141 

The increase in net assets of $336.14 million has been accounted for as an increase in contributed equity and is 
disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity. 

Budgeted appropriation revenue of $30.99 million was reallocated from the Department of Child Safety, Youth 
and Women to Department of Youth Justice as part of the Machinery-of-Government changes. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

81 Revenue 

81-1 

81-.'2 

82 

82-1 

Appropriation revenue 

Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to appropriation 

Budgeted appropriation revenue 
Transfers from other departments - redistribution of public business 
Unforeseen expenditure 
Total appropriation receipts (cash) 

Plus: Closing balance of appropriation revenue receivable 
Net appropriation revenue 

Transfers of balances from/to other departments - Machinery of 
Government Changes 

Appropriation revenue recognised in statement of comprehensive income 

Appropriations provided under the Appropriation Act (No. 1) 2019 are recognised as revenue when 
received. 

User charges 

Sale of services* 
Rental income A 

Total 

* Revenue for sale of services is from services provided at the three Outlook premises. Services 
provided include accommodation fees, venue and equipment hire, catering and training and 
programs and events. The revenue is recognised after services are provided, which is the sole 
performance obligation. 

A Rental income is the contribution from departmental officers towards employee public housing as 
part of contract entered into with employees. Housing is provided on an ongoing basis and rent is 
recognised when money is deducted from employees' fortnightly salaries. 

Expenses 

Employee expenses 

Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries* 
Employer superannuation contributions 
Annual leave levy 
Long service leave levy 
Other employee benefits 

Employee related expenses 
Workers' compensation premium 

other employee related expenses 

Total 
* Wages and salaries includes $2.02 million of $1,250 one-off, pro-rata payment for 1622 full-time 
equivalent employees (announced in September 2019). 

2020 
$'000 

245,356 
21,931 
18,851 

286,138 

2,081 
288,219 

(3,461) 
284,758 

2020 
$'000 

647 
73 

720 

2020 
$'000 

134,878 
15,948 
13,803 
3,212 
1,525 

169,366 

5,773 

2,483 
8,256 

177,622 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

82 Expenses (continued) 

82-1 Employee expenses (continued) 

The number of employees on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis under the Minimum Obligatory Human Resource 
Information (MOHRI) classification methodology is: 
Number of full-time equivalent employees 

Employee benefits 

1,511 

Employee benefits include employer superannuation contributions, annual leave levies and long service leave 
levies. 
(i) Wages, salaries and sick leave 

Wages and salaries due, but unpaid at reporting date, are recognised in the statement of financial position at 
the current salary rates. As the department expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of 
reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts. 

Sick leave is non-vesting. No liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. An expense is 
recognised for this leave as it is taken. 

(ii) Annual leave and long service leave 

The department is a member of the Queensland Government's Annual Leave and Long Service Leave 
Schemes. A levy is payable to these schemes to cover the cost of employees' annual leave (including leave 
loading and on-costs) and long service leave. These levies are expensed in the period in which they are 
payable. Amounts paid to employees for the leave taken are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears. 

(iii) Superannuation 

Post-employment benefits for superannuation are provided through defined contribution (accumulation) plans 
or the Queensland Government's QSuper defined benefit plan as determined by the employee's conditions of 
employment. 

Defined contribution plans - Contributions are made to eligible complying superannuation funds based on the 
rates specified in the relevant Enterprise Bargaining Agreement or other conditions of employment. 
Contributions are expensed when they are paid or become payable following completion of the employee's 
service each pay period. 

Defined benefit plan - The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in 
those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector 
Financial Reporting. The amount of contributions for defined benefit plan obligations is based upon the rates 
determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions are paid by the department at 
the specified rate following completion of the employee's service each pay period. The department's 
obligations are limited to those contributions paid. 

(iv) Workers' compensation premiums 

The department pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for employee 
compensation. Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not 
included in an employee's total remuneration package. It is not considered an employee benefit and is 
recognised separately as employee related expenses. 

Key management personnel (KMP) and remuneration disclosures are detailed in Note F1-4. 
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B2 

B2-2 

B2-3 

B2-4 

B2-5 

Expenses (continued) 

Supplies and services 

Service procurement A 

Operating lease rentals# 
Professional and technical fees 

Computer operating costs 

Outsourced corporate services 

Repairs and maintenance 

Property operational costs 

Administration costs 

Minor plant and equipment 

Travel 

Telecommunications 

Other 
Total 

" Encompasses procurement of outsourced service delivery for social services. For a transaction to 
be classified as service procurement, the value of goods or services received by the department 
must be of approximate value to the value of consideration exchanged for those goods to services. 
Where this is not substance of the arrangement, the transaction is classified as a grant. 

# Property lease expenses include lease rental for short-term leases, leases of low value assets, 
variable lease payments and leases payments under Queensland Government Accommodation 
Office (QGAO) and residential accommodation through the Government Employee Housing (GEH) 
arrangement as outlined in note A 1-8-3. 

Other expenses 

Insurance premiums - Queensland Government Insurance Fund 

External audit fees* 

Other 
Total 

* The Auditor-General of Queensland is the department's external auditor. Total external audit fees 
relating to the 2019-20 financial statements audit are estimated to be $0.20 million. There are no non
audit services included in this amount. 

Depreciation expense 

Buildings 

Plant and equipment 
Total 

The relevant accounting policy is disclosed under Note C4-3. 

Impairment losses 

Other debtors 

Property, plant and equipment impaired 
Total 

2020 
$'000 

29,888 

11,233 
7,093 

1,048 

12,678 

7,987 

4,350 

754 

925 

1,867 

927 

4,862 
83,612 

2020 
$'000 

670 

132 

167 
969 

2020 
$'000 

15,496 

1,519 

17,015 

2020 
$'000 

43 

105 
148 
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C1 

C2 

C3 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash on hand 
Cash at bank 
Total 

Cash assets include all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June 2020. 

Receivables 

Current 
Trade and other debtors 
Less: Allowance for impairment loss 

GST input tax credits receivable 
Annual leave reimbursements 
Long service leave reimbursements 
Appropriation revenue receivable 
Total 

2020 
$'000 

21 
22,586 
22,607 

2020 
$'000 

152 
(39) 
113 

2,883 
1,688 

375 
2,081 
7,140 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery. Settlement of 
these amounts is required within 30 days from invoice date. 

Impairment of receivables 
The loss allowance for trade and other debtors reflects lifetime expected credit losses and incorporates reasonable 
and supportable forward-looking projections. Forecast economic changes that are expected to impact the 
department's debtors, along with relevant industry and statistical data, form part of the department's impairment 
assessment. 

Where the department receivables are from Queensland Government agencies, Statutory Bodies or Australian 
Government agencies, no loss allowances is recorded on the basis of materiality. These debtors are expected to 
have an insignificant, and therefore immaterial, level of credit risk exposure. 

Where the department has no reasonable expectation of recovering an amount owed by a debtor, the debt should 
be written -off. This occurs when the debt is over 90 days past due date and the department has ceased all 
enforcement activities. 

Loss allowances as at 1 June 2019 
Increase/ decrease in allowance recognised in operating result 
Amount written-off during the year 
Loss allowance as of 30 June 2020 

Non-current assets held for Sale 

Land held for sale 
Buildings held for sale 
Total 

2020 
$'000 

39 
(43) 
39 

2020 
$'000 

21,000 
500 

21,500 

Non-current assets held for sale consist of the former Brisbane's Children Court land and building that management 
has determined are available for immediate sale in their present condition. The sale of these assets is highly 
probable within the next twelve months. 

Under AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, when an asset is classified as held 
for sale, its value is measured at the lower of the asset's carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Such 
assets are no longer amortised or depreciated upon being classified as held for sale. 
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C3 Non-current assets held for sale (continued) 

The current condition and structure of the former Brisbane's Children Court building assets is considered unsuitable 

as either a court facility or office accommodation. The capital investment required to make the buildings fit for 

purpose as office accommodation does not provide value for money to the department. This is mainly because of 

the age and condition of the building. Management has approved divesting of these assets. 

AASB 5 Non Current Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations allows for an asset to be classified as held 

for sale for a period longer than twelve months when the delay is caused by events or circumstances beyond the 

entity's control. The department is committed to the sale of these assets, however there has been delay in the sale 

process outside the control of the department. The sale is expected to be finalised in the 2020-21 financial year. 

The valuations of both land and building assets reflect their fair value as lower than carrying amount at the time of 

meeting the "held for sale" classification. The valuation was provided by independent property valuers. The 

department has assessed the value of these assets as appropriate at the end of the reporting period. 

C4 Property, plant and equipment 

C4-1 Recognition and acquisition 

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following thresholds 

are recognised as assets for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition: 

Buildings $10,000 

Land $1 

Plant and equipment $5,000 

Items with a lesser value are·expensed in the year of acquisition. 

Site improvements are included in the building classifications. 

Expenditure is only added to an asset's carrying amount if it increases the service potential or useful life of the 

existing asset. Maintenance expenditure that merely restores original service potential (lost through ordinary wear 

and tear) is expensed. 

The department has a comprehensive annual maintenance program for its property, plant and equipment. 

C4-2 Measurement 

Following the Machinery-of-Government changes in May 2019, assets relating to Youth Justice Services were 

transferred from DCSYW. The cost of these assets acquired as part of the MoG is recognised as the gross carrying 

amount in the books of the transferor immediately prior to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation. 

Historical cost is used for the initial recording of all property, plant and equipment acquisitions. Historical cost is 

determined as the value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including architect's fees, 

engineering design fees and other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price). This is 

regardless of whether that price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated using another valuation 

technique. 

Land and buildings are measured at fair value in accordance with NCAPs. These assets are reported at their 

revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses. 

The fair values reported by the department are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the use of 

available and relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 

Land and buildings are revalued on an annual basis either by appraisals undertaken by an independent 

professional valuer or by the use of appropriate and relevant indices. 

The department's assets have been materially kept up-to-date via the application of relevant indices. Indexations 

sourced from Marsh Pty Ltd (trading as AssetVal) have been applied to assets as at 31 March 2020 (refer to Note 

C4-7). Marsh Pty Ltd supplies the indices and provides assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness 

for application to the relevant assets. Management assesses and confirms the relevance and suitability of indices 

based on the department's own particular circumstances. 
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C4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

C4-3 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or revalued 
amount of each asset, less any estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the 
department. Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. The remaining useful lives of buildings, plant 
and equipment are reviewed annually. 

Separately identifiable components of complex assets are depreciated according to the useful life of each 
component. 

Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery capacity. 

The depreciable amount of improvements to or on leasehold property is allocated progressively over the estimated 
useful life of the improvements or the unexpired period of the lease, whichever is the shorter. The unexpired period 
of a lease includes any option period where exercise of the option is probable. 
For each class of depreciable asset the following depreciation useful lives are used: 

Asset Class Range of Useful Life 

Buildings 

Main Buildings 26 - 67 years 

External Services 29 - 65 years 

Substructure 29 - 65 years 

Superstructure 29 - 65 years 

Roof 19 - 56 years 

Land Improvements 22 - 53 years 

Finishes 11 · 40 years 

Fittings 5 - 40 years 

Services 11 -40 years 

Security 10 years 

Plant and Equipment 

Leasehold Improvements 3 - 24 years 

Security 4 -17 years 

Office Equipment 4 -16 years 

Plant and Machinery 2 · 16 years 

Fixtures and Fittings 9 -15 years 

Furniture 10 years 

C4-4 Impairment 

All property, plant and equipment assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or, where 
the asset is measured at fair value, for indicators of a change in fair value/service potential since the last valuation 
was completed. Where indicators of a material change in fair value or service potential since the last valuation 
arise, the asset is revalued at the reporting date under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. If an indicator of 
possible impairment exists, the department determines the asset's recoverable amount under AASB 136 
Impairment of Assets. Recoverable amount is equal to the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal. 

The department undertook an asset impairment review in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. This 
review has identified one building where physical damage was assessed as an impairment. The repair work to the 
building will be finalised in the 2020 -21. 
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C4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

C4-5 Closing balances and reconciliations of carrying amount 

Property, plant and equipment reconciliation at 30 June 2020 

Land 
- At fair value 

Buildings 
At fair value 
Less accumulated depreciation 
Less accumulated impairment 

Plant and equipment 
At cost 
Less accumulated depreciation 

Capital works in progress 
- At cost 

Total 

Represented by 
movements in carrying 
amount: 

Plant and Capital works 

Transfers in from other Queensland 
Government entities 

Acquisitions (including upgrades) 

Transfers between asset classes 

Net revaluation increments in asset 
revaluation surplus 

Impairment losses recognised in 
operating surplus 

Disposals 

Depreciation expenses 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 

C4-6 Fair value measurement 

Land 
$'000 

19,674 

12 

426 

20,112 

Buildings equipment 
$'000 $'000 

254,418 

25,994 

5,113 

(105) 

(15,495) 

269,925 

5,424 

74 

60 

(4) 

(1,519) 

4,035 

in progress 
$'000 

25,708 

87,089 

(26,067) 

86,730 

Ali assets of the department for which fair value is measured are categorised within the following fair value 
hierarchy: 

2020 
$'000 

20,112 

403,356 
(133,326) 

(105) 
269,925 

21,853 
(17,818) 

4,035 

86,731 
380,803 

Total 
$'000 

305,224 

87,163 

5,539 

(105) 

(4) 

(17,014) 

380,803 

• level 1 - represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for 
identical assets; 

• level 2 - represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted 
prices included within level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

• level 3- represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs - current 
replacement cost where no market exists for similar assets. 

None of the department's valuations of assets are eljgible for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
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C4 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

C4-6 Fair value measurement (continued) 

Categorisation of assets measured at fair value 

Level2 
$'000 

Land 20,112 

Buildings 1,171 

Level 3 Fair value measurement - reconciliation 

Transfers in from other Queensland Government 
entities 

Transfers between asset classes 

Net revaluation increments in operating surplus 

Impairment losses recognised in operating surplus 

Depreciation 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 

C4-7 Basis for fair values of assets 

Level3 
$'000 

-
268,754 

Total 
$'000 

20,112 

269,925 

Buildings 
$'000 

253,785 

25,460 

5,093 

(105) 

(15,479) 

268,754 

The department's land and buildings assets were transferred from DCSYW as part of the MoG change. Valuations 
were performed prior to the MoG change, with an effective date of 31 March 2019. The value of land and building 
assets transferred to the department reflected their revalued amounts. 

The land and building assets for the Youth Detention Centres, Outlook Services Facilities and Cherbourg Program 
were last comprehensively revalued in December 2017 under the Department of Justice and Attorney-General. 

Complex assets 
For complex assets, components are separately recorded when their value is significant relative to the total cost of 
the complex asset. When a separately identifiable component (or group of components) of significant value is 
replaced, the existing component(s) is derecognised. The replacement component(s) is capitalised when it is 
probable that future economic benefits from the significant component will flow to the department in conjunction 
with the other components comprising the complex asset and the cost exceeds the asset recognition thresholds 
specified above. Components are valued on the same basis as the asset class to which they relate. 

The department's complex assets are its youth detention centres. 

For the current reporting period, indices sourced from AssetVal were applied to the land and building assets. 
These indices were derived as follows: 

Land and Residential Buildings 
AssetVal provided indices based on an analysis of property prices across residential and commercial sectors. The 
revaluation of the land assets and residential buildings during 2019-20 continues to be undertaken using market 
data, which is a level 2 assessment. 

Buildings - Specialised and Complex Buildings 
The index-based valuation conducted by AssetVal takes into account replacement cost differences due to building 
construction. It also considers the difference in replacement cost for building components. The indices for the 
current year were based from Rawlinson's Australian Construction Handbook 2020, Costweb and the Australian 
Bureau of Statistics. 

All of the department's buildings in respect of youth detention centres have been assessed as specialised buildings. 
The valuation of these assets is based on the fact that the current use is highest and best use. A current 
replacement cost valuation approach has been used due to no active market for detention centres. 
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CS Payables 

cs 

C7 

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed 
purchase or contract price. Amounts owing are unsecured. 

2020 
Current $'000 
Trade creditors and accruals 4,613 

Equity withdrawal payable 10,716 

Other 90 
Total 15,419 

Accrued employee benefits 2020 
$'000 

Salaries and wages payable (77) 

Annual leave levy payable 3,621 

Long service leave levy payable 794 
Total 4,338 

No provision for annual leave or long service leave is recognised in the department's financial statements as the 
liability is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in the financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 
Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

Provisions 
Current 
Provision - Social Benefit Bond (SBB) 
Total 

Movement 
Balance transferred from DCSYW 
Additional provision made 

Provision utilised through payments 
Balance at 30 June 2020 

2020 

$'000 
3,238 
3,238 

$'000 
3,461 

1,865 

(2,088) 
3,238 

The department is responsible for administering the Social Benefit Bond (SBB) Multi Systematic Therapy (Youth 
Choices). The responsibility was transferred to the department as part of MoG changes from DCSYW. 

The SBB is a financial instrument issued to a private investor where the returns the investor receives are based on 
the achievement of agreed social outcomes. Payment for the outcomes under this scheme by the department is 
dependent on demonstrating the delivery of outcomes. 

Under the Youth Choices SBB, a provision of $1.87 million has been recognised for charges payable under the 
minimum perfonmance arrangements according to contract entered with the provider at the end of the reporting 
period. 

Payments made during the year against the provision represent the minimum outcome performance payment as 
per the review undertaken by an independent assessor as per the contract 
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CB Equity 
CB-1 Contributed equity 

The following items are recognised as contributed equity by the department during the reporting year: 
• Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector entities 

as a result of Machinery-of-Government changes (refer Note A3); 

• Non-reciprocal transfer of land asset located at Waco! Precinct amounting to $0.350 million from the 
Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors (DCDSS); and 

• Appropriations for equity adjustments (refer to Note CB-2). 

CB-2 Appropriations recognised in equity 

Reconciliation of payments from consolidated fund to equity adjustment 

Budgeted equity adjustment appropriation 
Transfers from/to other departments - Redistribution of public business 
Lapsed equity adjustment 
Unforeseen expenditure* 
Equity adjustment receipts (payments) 
Plus: MoG transfer of equity payable 
Less: Closing balance of equity adjustment payable 

Equity Adjustment Recognised in Contributed Equity 

2020 
$'000 

16,699 

4,496 
(10,980) 
66,123 

76,338 

2,017 
(10,716) 

67,639 

* Unforeseen expenditure is related to additional appropriation received to expedite the construction of the New 
Youth Detention Centre (NYDC) - Waco[ 32 beds project. 

CB-3 Asset revaluation surplus by asset class 

The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of upwards and downwards revaluations of assets to fair 
value. 

Revaluation increments 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 

D1 Financial risk disclosures 
D1-1 Financial instruments 

Land 
$'000 

426 
426 

Buildings 
$'000 
5,113 
5,113 

Total 
$'000 
5,539 
5,539 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the department becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Categorisation of financial instruments 
The department has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities: 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 
Total 

Financial liabilities 
Payables 
Total 

C1 
C2 

cs 

Note 
2020 
$'000 

22,607 
7,140 

29,747 

15,419 
15,419 
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Department of Youth Justice 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

01 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 

01-2 Financial risk management 

Financial risk management is implemented pursuant to government and departmental policy. These policies 
focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the department. 

All financial risk is managed under policies approved by the department. The department provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas. 

The department's activities expose it to a variety of non-material financial risks, liquidity risk and market risk. 

The department measures risk exposure using a variety of methods as follows: 

Risk exposure Measurement method 

Credit risk Ageino analysis 

Liouiditv risk Sensitivity analysis 

Market risk Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

There are no material liquidity, market and credit risks for the department. A sensitivity analysis has not been 
undertaken for the interest rate risk of the department as it has been determined that the possible impact on 
income from fluctuations in interest rates is immaterial. 

02 Commitments 

D2-1 Capital expenditure commitments 

Commitments for capital expenditure at reporting date (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits) are 
payable as follows: 

No later than one 
Later than one year 

Longer than five 
and not later than Total 

year five years 
years 

Payable 
2020 2020 2020 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Land and buildings 3,373 93,588 - 96,961 

Plant and equipment 174 452 - 626 

Total 3,547 94,040 - 97,587 

02-2 Service procurement commitments 

Commitments for service procurement at reporting date (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits) are 
payable as follows: 

No later than one 
Later than one year 

Longer than five 
and not later than Total 

year 
five years 

years 
Payable 

2020 2020 2020 2020 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Youth Justice Services 22,636 14,977 - 37,613 

Total 22,636 14,977 - 37,613 

D3 Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective 

All Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations with future effective dates are either not applicable to the 
department's activities, or have no material impact on the department. 
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04 Impact of COVID-19 on the Financial Statements 2019-20 

The Department of Youth Justice has continued to provide its essential services and operations during the 
COVID -19 event and continued to receive its budget appropriation. Most initiatives responded to COVID-19 
social distancing requirements with innovative solutions including engagement with clients through technology, 
and adapted service delivery models. Initiatives that are dependent upon group-based service delivery models 
(such as Transition 2 Success) experienced greater reduction in operational functions. Management assessed 
that there is no material financial impacts relating to this event for the reporting period. 

In addition, several large capital and maintenance projects experienced delay in their deliverables as travel 
restrictions affected both movement of people and materials required for these projects. Of particular note, social 
distancing restrictions delayed the $150 million NYDC project as limits number of tradespersons were able to 
work in confined areas. 

Property, plant and equipment are major elements of the department Statement of Financial Position. Early 
judgements and estimates have been reassessed to account for Covid-19 financial impacts, and no material 
adjustments to the value of assets are needed. Al 30 June 2020, the department's asset valuer (AssetVal) 
assessed that the COVID-19 pandemic caused market uncertainty and the impact on sale prices and volumes 
will not be known until the market has stabilised and a new normal is evident across the marketplace. The 
current replacement cost valuations of specialised buildings have not materially shifted because data suggests 
no significant movement in construction costs due to Covid-19. Therefore the valuation provided is still current 
as at 30 June 2020. 

D5 Contingencies 

The agency has no contingent liabilities which would have a material impact on the information disclosed in the 
2019-20 financial statements. 

E1 Budgetary reporting disclosures 

E1-1 Explanation of major variances - Income Statement 
Appropriation revenue 

The actual revenue is higher than budget because Cabinet Budget Review Committee outcomes 
provided funding for operationalising the New Youth Detention Centre ($0.94 million), additional 
funding for operational costs identified post Machinery of Government changes ($8.8 million), claw 
back of funding for youth justice initiatives ($1.3 million), state wage case outcomes and $1250 one
off pro-rata payment for full lime equivalent employees ($3.4 million). 

Employee expenses: 

The variance is attributed to an unbudgeted increase in the WorkCover premium ($3.0 million) and 
state wage case outcomes and $1250 one-off, pro-rata payment for full time equivalent employees 
(announced in September 2019) as explained in Note B2-1. 

E1-1 Explanation of major variances - Income Statement ( continued) 
Supplies and services: 

The variance is attributed to the impact of COVID-19 restrictions on the delivery of some youth 
justice programs that are dependent on group based service delivery models and experienced a 
reduction in operational functions. In addition, various maintenance projects experienced a delay in 
deliverables due to travel restrictions that restricted the movement of people and materials. 

Grants and subsidies: 

The variance is attributed to the reassessment of actuals as service procurement payments under 
supplies and services rather than grants that meet the service procurement classification detailed in 
Note B2-2 

Depreciation 

Depreciation expense was greater than budget because there was an under-budget allocation 
following Machinery of Government transfers. Additional funding was received following mid-year 
review. 

E1-2 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Financial Position 
Cash and cash equivalents 

The variance is mainly attributed to the retention of appropriation revenue payable ($4.9 million) and 
equity payable ($10.7 million) cash held pending return to Consolidated Fund in 2020-21 that are 
associated with timing adjustments for service and project delivery. The remaining variance is 
detailed in the explanation of major variances for the Statement of Cash Flows. 
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E1 Budgetary reporting disclosures (continued) 
E1-2 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Financial Position (continued) 

Receivables 

The balance of current receivables is higher than budget primarily because GST tax receivable from 
the Australian Taxation Office ($2.8 million) were recognised in this period and an appropriation 
revenue receivable for provision of future cashflowed payments of performance bonuses to the third 
party provider for social benefit bonds ($3.2 million) was included. 

Current payables 

Current payables is greater than budget mainly due to higher than anticipated trade creditors and 
accruals of $4.6 million and equity payable of $10.7 million. 

Accrued employee benefits 

Accrued employee benefits are lower than budget mainly due to a greater budget allocation on 
Machinery of Government transfers. 

Total equity 

The variance in total equity relates to an increase in equity adjustment for additional injection 
received to expedite the department's capital projects ($76.4 million) and the increase of the 
revaluation surplus ($5.5 million). 

E1-3 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Cash Flows 

SeNice appropriation receipts 

Service appropriation receipts are higher than budget because Cabinet Budget Review Committee 
outcomes provided funding for operationalising the New Youth Detention Centre ($0.940 million), 
additional funding for operational costs identified post Machinery of Government changes ($8.8 
million), claw back of funding for youth justice initiatives ($1.3 million), and state wage case 
outcomes and $1250 one-off pro-rata payment for fu II time equivalent employees ($3.4 million). 

User charges and fees 

User charges receipts are higher than budget mainly due to an increase in services provided in the 
Outlooks premises, and employee contributions to employee housing. 

Employee expenses 

Employee expenses outflows are greater than budget because there was an unbudgeted increase in 
the WorkCover premium ($3.0 million) and state wage case outcomes and $1250 one-off, pro-rata 
payment for full time equivalent employees (announced in September 2019) as explained in Note 82-
1. 

Supplies and seNices 

Supplies and services outflows variance relates to the impact of COVID-19 restrictions on delivering 
on some youth justice program expenditure such as group based service delivery models. A 
reduction in operational functions and various maintenance projects led to a delay in deliverables 
and travel restrictions affected the movement of people and materials. 

Sales of property, plant and equipment 

The sale of the Former Brisbane Children's Court assets were delayed as explained in Note C3. 

Payments for property, plant and equipment 

The higher cash outflows in Payments for property, plant and equipment relates to the construction 
of the NYDC, and fast tracked construction work for the additional Brisbane Youth Detention Centre 
16 beds facility. 

Equity injections 

The higher cash inflows from Equity injections relates to the net movement of additional funding 
received for the construction of the NYDC ($48.2 million), and fast tracked construction work for the 
additional Brisbane Youth Detention Centre 16 beds facility ($3.0 million). 

Equity withdrawals 

The lower cash outflows in Equity withdrawals relates to funds not being received due to the sale of 
the Former Brisbane Children's Court assets ($21.5 million) being delayed as explained in Note C3. 
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F1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures 

F1-1 KMP remuneration policies 

Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland's Members' 
Remuneration Handbook. The department does not bear any cost for the remuneration of Ministers. The majority 
of Ministerial entitlements are paid by the Legislative Assembly with the remaining entitlements being provided 
by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC). As all Ministers are 
reported as KMP of Queensland Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for all ministers are disclosed 
in the Queensland General Government and Whole of Government Consolidated Financial Statements in 2019-
20, that are published as part of Queensland Treasury's Report on State Finances. 

Remuneration policy for the department's other KMP is set by the Queensland Public Service Commission as 
provided for under the Public Service Act 2008. Individual remuneration and other terms of employment 
(including motor vehicle entitlements and performance payments if applicable) are specified in employment 
contracts. 

Remuneration expenses for those KMP comprise the following components: 
1- Short-term employee expenses include salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for 
the entire reporting period, or for the part of the year where the employee occupied a KMP position. 
2 - Long term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements 
earned. 
3- Termination benefits include payments in lieu of notice on termination and other lump _sum separation 
entitlement (excluding annual and long service leave entitlements) payable on termination of employment or 
acceptance of an offer of termination of employment. 

F1-2 Performance payments 

No KMP remuneration packages provide for performance or bonus payments. 

F1-3 Details of key management personnel 

The department's responsible Minister is identified as part of the department's KMP. For the period from 1 June 
2019 to 30 June 2020, the department's Minister is the Honourable Diane Farmer MP, Minister for Child Safety, 
Youth and Women and Minister for the Prevention of Domestic and Family Violence. 

The following details for non-Ministerial KMP reflect those departmental positions that had authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the department during 2019-20. 

Further information about these positions can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section 
relating to Executive Management. 

Position Position Responsibility 
Director-General Responsible for the efficient, effective and economic administration of the 

department. 

Deputy Director-General Responsible for providing strategic and operational leadership and 
management for the delivery of, and investment in youth justice services 
across Queensland and management of the department's Corporate Services. 

Senior Executive Director, Responsible for providing strategic leadership and direction of policy, 
Strategy and Performance legislation, inter-governmental relations, investment and commissioning, 

performance, engagement and communications. 

Senior Executive Director, Responsible for providing strategic and operational leadership and 
Youth Detention and management for the delivery of youth detention centres, Aboriginal and Torres 
Operations Strait Islander strategy and partnerships and operationalising new youth justice 

initiatives. 

Senior Executive Director, Responsible for leadership of the department's service delivery across all 
Regional Services regions in Queensland. 

Chief Finance Officer Responsible for providing strategic leadership and direction for the financial 
administration of the department. 

Chief Human Resource Responsible for providing strategic leadership and direction on strategic human 
Officer resource management, organisational capability, workforce planning and 

systems, employee and industrial relations and professional standards. 
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F1 Key Management Personnel (KMP) Disclosures (continued) 

F1-4 KMP remuneration expenses 

2019 -20 
Short Term 

Employee Expenses 

Position Monetary 
Non- Long Term 

Monetary Employee 
Post-

Employment 
Expenses 

Benefits" Expenses Expenses Total Expenses 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Director-General 416 2 9 49 476 

Deputy Director-General (from 26 September 
213 2 5 22 241 

2019) 

Deputy Director-General (Acting from 01 June 
99 - 2 8 109 

to 25 September 2019) 

Senior Executive Director, Strategy and 
149 1 4 14 168 

Performance (12 October 2019) 

Senior Executive Director, Youth Detention and 
158 2 4 17 181 

Operations 

Senior Executive Director, Regional Services 242 - 5 22 269 

Chief Finance Officer* (Acting from 14 October 
115 2 2 12 132 

2019) 

Chief Human Resource Officer 164 2 4 19 189 

*Chief Finance Officer of Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women had shared responsibility for 

Department of Youth Justice (DYJ) from 1 June to 13 October 2019 with no remuneration provided by DYJ. 

"Non-monetary benefits relate to car parking that attract Fringe Benefit Tax to the department. 

F2 Related party transactions 

F2-1 Transactions with other Queensland Government-controlled entities 

The department's primary ongoing sources of funding from government for its services are appropriation 

revenue (Note B1-1) and equity injections (Note CS-2), both of which are provided in cash via Queensland 

Treasury. 

The department's primary source of accommodation leases, motor vehicle leases, and asset works and repairs 

are managed through the Department of Housing and Public Works and its controlled entities. Note B2-2 and C4-

5 provides the relevant balance of transactions. 

The department received a range of corporate services, including Information Services, from the Department of 

Child Safety, Youth and Women (DCSYW) under Memorandum of Understanding arrangements (MoU). 

Note A3 outlines a transfer of assets and liabilities from the DCSYW arising from the Machinery -of- Government 

change effective 1 June 2019. 

G1 Trust transactions and balances 

The department manages and acts as trustee for Youth Detention Centre Trust Funds. As the department 

performs only a custodial role in respect of these transactions and balances, they are not recognised in the 

financial statements but are disclosed in this note for the information of users. 

2020 
$'000 

Revenue 

Expenses 

Assets 

Liability 

(144) 

143 
(1) 

21 

(21) 
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Department of Youth Justice 
Management Certificate 

for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

CERTIFICATE OF THE DEPARTMENT OF YOUTH JUSTICE 

These general purpose financial st;itements have been prepared pursuant to s.62(1) of the FinaFJcial Accountability 
Act 2009 (the Act), section 38 of the Financial and Performance Management standard 2019 and other prescribed 
requirements. In accordance with s.62(1)(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with ih all material 
respects; and 

b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed 
accounting standards, of the transactions of the Department of Youth Justice for the financial period 1 June 
2019 to 30 June 2020 and of the financial position of the department at the end of June 2020. 

,' 

The Direotor-General, as the Accountable Officer of the Department of Youth Justice, acknowledges 
responsibility under s.7 and s.11 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 for the 
establishment and maintenance, in all material respects, of an appropriate and effective system of iflternal 
controls and risk management processes with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period. 

Darceina Brocket Robert Gee 

Chief Finance Officer 

26 _August 2020 4August202 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Accountable Officer of the Department of Youth Justice 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Department of Youth Justice. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the department's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and 

its financial performance and cash flows for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020 

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and statement of cash 

flows for the period 1 June 2019 to 30 June 2020, notes to the financial statements including 

summaries of significant accou1;1ting policies and other explanatory information, and the 

management certificate. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 

incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 

of my report. 

I am independent of the department in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 

Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 

Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code 

and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for my opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most 

significance in my audit of the financial report of the current period. I addressed these 

matters in the context of my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my 

opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Valuation of Specialised Buildings $268.754m 

Refer to notes C4-2, C4-5 and C4-6 in the financial report. 

K d"t tt I How my audit addressed the key audit 
ey au I ma er I matter 

Specialised buildings totalling $268.8 million at 
balance date were measured using the current 
replacement cost method. An external valuer 
performed a specific appraisal valuation of the 
buildings as at 31 March 2020. The department 
determined that there has been no material 
movement in fair value between this valuation 
date and 30 June 2020. 

The current replacement cost method comprises: 

• Gross replacement cost, less 

• Accumulated depreciation 

Measurement of gross replacement cost requires 
significant judgements for: 

• identifying the components of buildings that are 
replaced at different times (known as unit rate 
categories) 

• developing a unit rate for each of these 
components, including: 

- estimating the current cost for a modern 
substitute (including locality factors and 
oncosts), expressed as a rate per unit (e.g. 
$/square metre) 

- identifying whether the existing building 
contains lower service levels compared to 
the modern substitute, and if so estimating 
the adjustment to the unit rate required to 
reflect this difference 

• indexing unit rates for subsequent increases in 
input costs 

The measurement of accumulated depreciation 
requires significant judgements for forecasting the 
remaining useful lives of assets. 

The significant judgements required for gross 
replacement cost and useful lives are also 
significant for calculating annual depreciation 
expense. 

My procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Assessing the appropriateness of the 
building components used for measuring 
gross replacement cost with reference to the 
department's asset management plans and 
common industry practices. 

• Evaluating whether unit rates were current at 
balance date by comparing the indices used 
against other publicly available information 
about movements in construction costs for 
similar assets: 

• Evaluating useful life estimates for 
reasonableness by: 

• Reviewing management's annual 
assessment of useful lives. 

• Ensuring that no component still in use has 
reached or exceeded its useful life. 

• Reviewing for consistency between 
components with a remaining useful life of 
less than three years and management's 
replacement plans for building components 
over this period. 

Responsibilities of the department for the financial report 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for 
such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Department of Youth Justice - Annual Report 2019-20 69



• Queensland 
• • Audit Office 

Better public services 

The Accountable Officer is also responsible for assessing the department's ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the department or to 

otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 

whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 

Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. This is not done for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the department's internal controls, but 

allows me to express an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the department. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the department's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

department's ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related 

disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my 

opinion. I base my conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my 

auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the department to 

cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Accountable Officer regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Accountable Officer, I determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are 
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therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor's report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the period 1 June 2019 to 
30 June 2020: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) I consider that, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and 
keeping of accounts were complied with in all material respects. 

Prescribed requirements scope 

The prescribed requirements for the establishment and keeping of accounts are 
contained in the Financial Accountability Act 2009, any other Act and the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2019. The applicable requirements include those 
for keeping financial records that correctly record and explain the department's 
transactions and account balances to enable the preparation of a true and fair financial 
report. 

~ 
John Welsh 
as delegate of the Auditor-General 

28 August 2020 

Queensland Audit Office 
Brisbane 
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Glossary of terms 
AQP   Advancing Queensland’s Priorities  

ARRs  Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies 

COVID-19  Coronavirus disease 

DCDSS  Department of Communities, Disability Services and Seniors  

DCSYW  Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women  

DJAG   Department of Justice and Attorney-General  

DYJ   Department of Youth Justice  

EBA   Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 

eDRMS  Electronic document and records management system  

FAA   Financial Accountability Act 2009  

FBT   Fringe Benefit Tax 

FPMS   Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019  

FTE   Full-time equivalent 

GST   Goods and Services Tax  

ICT   Information and Communication Technology  

QGEA   Queensland Government Enterprise Architecture  

QGOV  Queensland Government  

QPS   Queensland Police Service  

QSS   Queensland Shared Services  

PSC   Public Service Commission  

WHS   Workplace Health and Safety 
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Key office locations and contact information 
Office of the Director-General 

Address:  1 William Street, Brisbane Qld 4000 
Phone:  13 QGOV (13 74 68) 

Brisbane Youth Detention Centre  

Address: 99 Wolston Park Road, Wacol Qld 4076 
Phone: (07) 3271 0605 
 
Cleveland Youth Detention Centre  

Address: 27-79 Old Common Road, Belgian Gardens Qld 4810 
Phone: (07) 4421 5222 
 
Regional Services - Office of the Senior Executive Director   

Address:              Level 8, 445 Flinders Street, Townsville City Qld 4810 
Phone:                 (07) 4796 6551  

North Queensland Region – Office of the Regional Director  

Address:              Level 10, 15 Lake Street, Cairns Qld 4870 
Phone:                 (07) 4755 7505 

Central Queensland Region – Office of the Regional Director  

Address:              Level 3, 209 Bolsover Street, Rockhampton Qld 4700 
Phone:                 (07) 4848 4385 

Moreton Region – Office of the Regional Director  

Address:              Level 1, 55 Russell Street, Brisbane, Qld 4101 
Phone:                 (07) 3884 3222 

South East Region – Office of the Regional Director  

Address:              18 Blackwood Road, Logan Central Qld 4114 
Phone:                 (07) 3094 7003 

South West Region – Office of the Regional Director  

Address:              38 Limestone Street, Ipswich Qld 4304 
Phone:                 (07) 3432 1905 

For information about all other departmental locations visit www.qld.gov.au/law/sentencing-
prisons-and-probation/young-offenders-and-the-justice-system/youth-justice-in-queensland/youth-
justice-centre-locations. 
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Compliance checklist 

Summary of requirement 
Basis for 
requirement 

Annual report 
reference 

Letter of 
compliance 

A letter of compliance from the accountable officer 
or statutory body to the relevant Minister/s 

ARRs – section 7 Page 3 

Accessibility Table of contents 
Glossary 

ARRs – section 9.1 Page 4 

 Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 Page 2 

 Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services Policy 
ARRs – section 9.3 

Page 2 

 Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968 
ARRs – section 9.4 

Page 2 

 Information Licensing QGEA – Information 
Licensing 
ARRs – section 9.5 

Page 2 

General information Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 Pages 5-6 

 Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 Pages 5-6, 10-13, 37 
and 74 

 Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 Pages 10-13  

Non-financial 
performance 

Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 11.1 Page 11 

 Other whole-of-government plans / specific 
initiatives 

ARRs – section 11.2 Page 11 

 Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 11.3 Pages 11-13 and 16 

 Agency service areas and service standards  ARRs – section 11.4 Page 16 and 17-23 

Financial 
performance 

Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 Pages 7-9 

Governance – 
management and 
structure 

Organisational structure  ARRs – section 13.1 Page 14 

 Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 Pages 25-27 

 Public Sector Ethics  Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994 
ARRs – section 13.4 

Page 28 

 Human Rights  Human Rights Act 2019 Page 28-30 
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Summary of requirement 
Basis for 
requirement 

Annual report 
reference 

ARRs – section 13.5 

 Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.6 Page 28 

Governance – risk 
management and 
accountability 

Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 Page 31 

 Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 Pages 31 and 38-39 

 Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 Page 31 

 External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 Pages 31-32 

 Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 Page 37 

Governance – 
human resources 

Strategic workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 Pages 34-36 

 Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.04/18 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment  
ARRs – section 15.2 

Page 36 

Open Data Statement advising publication of information ARRs – section 16 Page 2 

 Consultancies  ARRs – section 33.1 https://data.qld.gov.au 

 Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 https://data.qld.gov.au 

 Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 https://data.qld.gov.au 

Financial 
statements 

Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62 
FPMS – sections 38, 39 
and 46 
ARRs – section 17.1 

Page 67 

 Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62 
FPMS – section 46 
ARRs – section 17.2 

Pages 68-71 
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